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Health Systems Trust (HST) is a leading role-player in the South
African public health arena focusing on health systems
strengthening, research, and strategic support to the
implementation of priority health programmes. Established in
April 1992 on the brink of democracy in South Africa, HST has
played a significant role in the evolution of the national health
system. Today our strength lies in the knowledge, insight and
experience we harness through synergising our research and
implementation outputs towards a healthy life for all.

ABOUT US
OUR VISION

OUR VALUES

OUR MISSION

Improved health equity
in a healthier Africa

• committed to excellence
• people-centred
• honest and transparent
• innovative
• responsive
• knowledge-driven
• collaborative

Driving change for
comprehensive and
equitable health systems
through research and
capacity development

OUR APPROACH IS BASED ON
• the primary health care philosophy
• generating evidence-based interventions,
good practice and innovations
• providing management, implementation and
research support at all levels of the health system

• providing guidance, mentoring and training
• taking action to address the inﬂuence of the
social determinants of health on the burden of disease
• tailoring our work to local contexts
• creating, sharing, storing and curating new knowledge
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FUNDERS AND PARTNERS

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS
A (add new registrations),
D (decrease the dormant patients),
R (reduce rejections),
E (increase external pick-up points – PuP’s)
S+ (to support SyNCH activities)
Academic Health Complexes
AHC’s
Acquired Immunodeﬁciency Syndrome
AIDS
Adult Primary Care
APC
antiretroviral therapy
ART
Adolescent- and Youth-friendly Services
AYFS
Basic Accounting System
BAS
Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment
BBBEE
Community-based Organisations
CBO’s
Central Chronic Medicine Dispensing
CCMDD
and Distribution programme
closed circuit television
CCTV
U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CDC
District Health Barometer
DHB
DHB: DHP District Health Barometer:
District Health Proﬁles
District Health Plans
DHP’s
DHS
DHS
direct service delivery
DsD
European & Developing Countries
EDCTP
Clinical Trials Programme
Electronic Drug-resistant Tuberculosis Register
EDR.net
National Electronic Tuberculosis Register
ETR.Net
Employment Equity
EE
electronic Integrated Management of
eIMCI
Childhood Illness
electronic medical record
EMR
Education and Training Quality Assurance
ETQA
Electronic Tuberculosis Register
ETR.Net
ﬁnancial risk protection
FRP
Grand Challenges Canada
GCC
HIV Counselling and Testing
HCT
Health Information System Program
HISP
Human Immunodeﬁency Virus
HIV
health policy and systems research
HPSR
Human Resources
HR
health systems research
HSR
health systems strengthening
HSS
Health Systems Trust Training Institute
HSTi
HIV Testing Services
HTS
HTS_POS the number of individuals who received HIV
Testing Services and received an HIV-positive
test result
HTS_YIELD the number of clients diagnosed as HIV-positive
out of those tested for HIV
HWSETA Health and Welfare Sector Education and
Training Authority
Ideal Clinic Realisation and Maintenance
ICRM
Information Communication and Technology
ICT
Integrated Management of Childhood Illness
IMCI
ADRES+

isoniazid preventive therapy
Information Technology
Johnson & Johnson
key informant interviews
KwaZulu-Natal
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health
Living Condition Surveys
linkage to care (the process of initiating and
maintaining engagement in medical and
psychosocial services for people who are newly
diagnosed as HIV-positive)
London School of Hygiene and
LSHTM
Tropical Medicine
monitoring and evaluation
M&E
Medical Ofﬁcer Medical Research Council
MOMRC
National Department of Health/
NDoH/
Department of Health
DoH
NET_NEW the number of patients remaining in care
for a 28-day cycle
non-governmental organisation
NGO
National Health Insurance
NHI
National Health Laboratory Service
NHLS
National Research Health Committee
NHRC
National Health Research Database
NHRD
National Health Research Observatory
NHRO
National Income Dynamics Study
NiDS
Adult Primary Care and Basic HIV Course
NIMART
for Health Professionals
out-of-pocket
OOP
U.S President’s Emergency Plan
PEPFAR
for AIDS Relief
Personnel Administration System
PERSAL
Public Health Association of South Africa
PHASA
primary health care
PHC
Provincial Health Research Committees
PHRC’s
people living with HIV
PLWHIV
portfolios of evidence
POE’s
Provincial Support Partner
PSP
pick-up point
PuP
Quality Council for Trades and Occupations
QCTO
Road Accident Fund
RAF
South Africa
SA
South African Health Review
SAHR
South African National Clinical Trials Register
SANCTR
SA SURE Plus South Africa Sustainable Response to HIV,
AIDS and TB and Maternal and Child Health
Sustainable Development Goals
SDG’s
Society of Midwives of South Africa
SOMSA
standard operating procedures
SOP’s
Statistics South Africa
StatsSa
Synchronised National Communication in Health
SyNCH
sub-recipient
SR
technical assistance
TA
tuberculosis
TB
IPT
IT
J&J
KII’s
KZN
KZN DoH
LCS
Linkage
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ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS
TEG
TLD
TREATS
TVET
TX_CUR_28
TX_NEW
TX_PVLS (Den)
TX_PVLS (Num)

UB
UHC
UKZN
UTT
VL Suppression rate
VOIP
VPN
WebDHIS
WHO
ZAMSTAR

Tropical Epidemiology Group
Tenofovir, Lamivudine, Dolutegravir
Tuberculosis Reduction through Expanded
Anti-Retroviral Treatment and TB Screening
vocational, education and training
the number of adults and children currently
receiving HIV treatment for 28 days
the number of patients newly initiated on HIV
treatment within the quarter
percentage of ART patients with a suppressed
viral load (Denominator: Number of adult and
paediatric patients on ART with suppressed
viral load results (<1 000 copies of ml)
documented in the medical records and/or
supporting laboratory results within the past
12 months
Unﬁnished Business for Paediatric
and Adolescent HIV
universal health coverage
University of KwaZulu-Natal
universal testing and treatment
viral load suppression rate
voice over internet protocol
virtual private network
District Health Information Software
World Health Organization
Zambia South Africa TB and HIV Reduction Study
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REPORT FROM THE CHAIRPERSON

“Important lessons have been learnt
over the past year, which have enabled
the organisation to be better prepared
for a post COVID-world, through
development of innovative approaches
which have the enhanced efﬁciency and
customer focus of our services which
we will carry into the future.”

In many ways 2020 has been a year like no other. The
COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the fragility of public
health systems in both developed and developing
countries and illustrated the strong need for
sustainable investment in health systems, with a critical
component being investment in health worker safety.
In March 2020, with the arrival of COVID-19 in South
Africa, HST, like other role players in the health sector,
had to rapidly adapt its ways of working to ensure that
we could continue to provide much needed services
and health systems technical support.
Global experience had demonstrated how important
health worker safety was as a key component of
keeping the health system functional and health
facilities and their users safe. Early preparation
including staff risk assessments, protective equipment
procurement and changes in working arrangements
to reduce staff risks have been key elements for HST’s
business continuity. This included support for the
national COVID-19 response working with the
National Department of Health and the
KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Department of Health
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where HST is provincial support partner and district
support partner in four districts.
Over the second half of the financial year, despite the
impact of COVID-19, an important priority was
achieved in providing continued support for HIV and
TB services and ensuring that medicines’ access for
patients with chronic medical conditions through the
Central Chronic Medicines Dispensing and
Distribution (CCMDD) programme continued
uninterrupted. Establishing effective “work from
home” arrangements and support for a significant
proportion of HST’s staff, and providing the required
support for staff working in clinical environments and
in the field, enabled continued implementation of
HST’s projects with appropriate adjustment and
re-prioritisation of interventions to address the impact
of COVID-19.
The COVID-19 pandemic caused significant
disruptions to access to treatment and care with
patient attendance at facilities reduced by as much as
40% by June 2020, threatening the achievements of
key national programmes such as the HIV and TB

programmes. HST innovations and adaptations to
support treatment access and adherence such as
community and home delivery of antiretroviral
treatment, establishment of mobile and satellite
medicine pick-up points near facilities, enabled targets
(75%) by quarter 3 (July 2020) to be achieved or
exceeded for a number of parameters; retention in
care at 81%, HIV testing and counselling 86%, linkage
to care at 87% (target of 90%) and viral load
suppression at 99% (target 95%). Enrolment in the
national CCMDD programme which HST supports
has reached a total of 3.6 million patients and by April
2020 the average growth in enrolments in the SyNCH
electronic software programme for CCMDD
increased from about 57 000 per month in March to
over 200 000 per month by July, such that over 1
million patients were registered on SyNCH by April
2020. The above demonstrate achievements in
ensuring continuing patient access to care in
programmes noted nationally to have been
significantly impacted by COVID-19.

HST to make an important contribution to the
national COVID-19 response and health systems
strengthening in South Africa.

DR DUMANI KULA
Chairperson

Important lessons have been learnt over the past year,
which have enabled the organisation to be better
prepared for a post-COVID world, through
development of innovative approaches which have
the enhanced efficiency and customer focus of our
services which we will carry into the future.
As we move forward into a new year, I wish to thank
my colleagues on the Board of Trustees who
concluded their terms on the Board in the past
financial year, namely Dr Flavia Senkubuge formerly
Board Chair, Mr Aziz Kader, 2nd Deputy Chairperson
and Chair of the Finance and Personnel Committees,
Professor Esther Kibuka-Sebitosi Chair of the Health
Systems Research Committee, Mrs Edith (Sayo)
Skweyiya Chair of the Health Systems Strengthening
Committee and Mr Thulani Masilela Chair of the
Governance Committee, for their sterling service to
HST over the past six years.
I wish to also thank our funders, including the National
Department of Health, PEPFAR/U.S Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention, the ELMA
Foundation, the European and Developing Countries
Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP) and others for
their continuing support without which our work
would not be possible. Last, but not least, my thanks
on behalf of the Board to HST’s staff and management
for their dedicated work over the past year in often
difficult circumstances which has enabled the
organisation’s programme of work to continue and
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

“As an organisation focused on
strengthening health systems we
look forward to implementing the
lessons learnt from COVID-19 both
from our own direct experience,
innovations, and operational
research as well as broader health
systems lessons and applying them
in a post- COVID future.”

In our 2019/2020 annual report we are happy to
share details on our progress and achievements in
HST’s work across the 15 projects implemented over
the past year. The year 2020 has illustrated how closely
health, development and societal well-being are
interlinked. While COVID-19 has been termed a great
equaliser, challenging health systems across the globe,
it soon became apparent that social inequalities in
health were profoundly, and unevenly, impacting
COVID-19 morbidity and mortality.
It soon became clear that essential prevention and
mitigation measures such as social distancing are much
more difficult to implement in the crowded setting of
low income communities placing them at higher risk at
home, in the transport systems at their disposal,
affecting their ability to access health systems as well as
work places, making them more vulnerable to the
economic impacts of COVID-19.
Our ability to provide service delivery support,
continue project implementation as well as support
the national COVID-19 response required us to
quickly factor into our operations measures addressing
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the safety and preparedness of our staff, as well as
issues of patient access to health services. HIV and TB
continue to be major national health challenges and
one of the impacts of COVID-19 was a significant
reduction in patient attendance at health facilities; for
HIV and TB patients in some cases by as much as 50
to 60%. Therefore, while the key health system focus
was on dealing with the COVID-19 crisis, we as an
organisation had to, in parallel, ensure continuing
service delivery under our largest project “South
Africa Sustainable Response to HIV, AIDS and TB and
Maternal and Child Health” (SA SURE Plus).
Working with district health teams we were able to
implement a number of innovative approaches to
ensure continued patient access to care. This included
setting up service points in the vicinity of health
facilities, providing mobile CCMDD pick-up points for
chronic care patients, putting in place a system for
home medicine deliveries as well as targeted support
to assist patients in transitioning to the new
Dolutegravir-based regimen through telephonic
contact by dedicated staff working from home, who
themselves were at high risk due to COVID-19

co-morbidities. These interventions enabled some of
the initial ground lost in pursuit of South Africa’s
90-90-90 targets to be regained in HST-supported
districts in KwaZulu-Natal.
In the past year our partnership to improve medicines’
access to stable patients with chronic medical
conditions continued with the National Department
of Health and support from the U.S Centers for
Disease Control through PEPFAR. HST was pleased to
support efforts to enhance medicines’ access through
the Pelebox Smart Locker initiative with its potential
to improve health outcomes by improving ease of
access and addressing barriers such as waiting time,
transport costs, and loss of income, and to be able to
support expansion of the electronic software system
(SyNCH) supporting CCMDD to all targeted 26
health districts.
In the current year work continued on eight projects
in our health systems research portfolio which
included publication of the 22nd edition of the South
African Health Review which focused on preparations
for national health insurance and progress towards
universal health coverage, and generated considerable
interest. While the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic
changed the focus of discussions from NHI and UHC
it has brought into sharp focus disparities in
vulnerability to communicable disease pandemics of
this nature and weaknesses in our health system which
amplified further existing health inequities. The
response to COVID-19 provided opportunities to
accelerate certain developments, e.g. strengthening of
health information systems and bringing closer
together public and private sector data and reporting
systems, a long-standing health system challenge.

and more resilient health system as this pandemic and
its effects may be with us for a number of years.
In the early months of the national lockdown it was
uncertain how health systems would cope, and how
we as an organisation would adapt. While there were
many challenges that required major adjustments and
changes in ways of working, I would like to thank all of
the HST staff across the different units in the
organisation for the tremendous way in which we
pulled together as an organisation, ensuring that work
continued, and partnering strategically at national,
provincial, district, facility and community level to
ensure uninterrupted health service delivery and
access. Staff were provided with the necessary
personal protective equipment, workplaces and offices
were compliant with COVID-19 regulations reducing
risks, ensuring staff safety and enabling service delivery
as safely as possible for clients, patients and employees.
All of this was made possible by the excellent team
work of the HST management team and staff, and
their exemplary commitment to HST’s work as well as
the generous support of our funders without whom
our work would not be possible. Finally, I would like to
thank, on behalf of the HST management and staff, our
Board of Trustees for their continued support,
guidance and encouragement over what was a difficult,
but also successful year.

DR THEMBA MOETI
Chief Executive Officer

Health systems research projects in the current year
included a study on job satisfaction among nurses as
well as a study on financial risk protection for universal
health coverage in South Africa. Both of these areas
will be of keen interest and significance as health
systems address the challenges resulting from
COVID-19 and health system weaknesses brought to
the fore by national COVID-19 experiences.
As an organisation focused on strengthening health
systems we look forward to implementing the lessons
learnt from COVID-19 both from our own direct
experience, innovations, and operational research as
well as broader health system lessons and applying
them in a post-COVID future to help build a stronger

10 HEALTH SYSTEMS TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This annual report covers Health Systems Trust’s (HST’s)
programme activities and achievements for the period
July 2019 to June 2020, with selected highlights to
September 2020. In line with our mission to drive change
for comprehensive and equitable health systems through
research and capacity development in a healthier Africa,
HST’s work is focused on strengthening health systems,
conducting policy-focused evidence-based research and
supporting the implementation of key health
programmes in an effort to create health equity for all.
As in previous years the scope of our work through
various projects and programmes has cut across the nine
provinces in South Africa with specific focus on service
sites in KwaZulu-Natal (KZN) and the Western Cape
(WC). Anchored in the primary health philosophy with
support delivered at all levels; from national, provincial
district, facility and community, our work is tailored to
local contexts in order to provide truly customer-focused
services and outcomes. Focused on addressing priority
health challenges within the South African context and in
support of the Department of Health’s National
Strategic Plan 2015–2020, our activities in the past year
have focused on reduction of the burden of HIV and TB
through improved access to treatment and prevention
services, improved access to medicines for patients with
chronic conditions through the Central Chronic
Medicines Dispensing and Distribution (CCMDD)
programme as well the conduct of health systems
research. These efforts and others are aligned to
attainment of national universal health coverage goals,
through the generation of evidence to inform policy,
achievement of epidemic control for HIV and TB and
leveraging of programme investments to build a stronger
health system.
Our work over the past year included implementation of
fifteen projects across our health systems strengthening,
health systems research and support for priority health
programmes portfolio with grant funding of about R1
billion supporting this work. This was made possible
through generous funding support from the National
Department of Health, the United States President’s
Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the
Centers for Disease Control (CDC), the ELMA
Foundation, the European Developing Countries Clinical
Trials Partnership (EDCTP) and other funders (please
see our list of Funders and Partners).
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Projects implemented in our
strengthening portfolio included:

health

systems

• the South Africa Sustainable Response to HIV, AIDS,
TB and Maternal and Child Health (SA SURE Plus),
• The Central Chronic Medicines Dispensing and
Distribution programme and its electronic monitoring
system the Synchronised National Communication in
Health (SyNCH); a Department of Health initiative to
improve access to chronic medicines for stable
patients by enabling them to pick up their repeat
medicines from a convenient pick-up point near their
home or work.
• The Unfinished Business project for Paediatric and
Adolescent HIV (UB) in three districts in
KwaZulu-Natal.
• The electronic Integrated Management of Childhood
Illness (eIMCI) project, an innovation project nested
under the Unfinished Business project for Paediatric
and Adolescent HIV in KwaZulu-Natal whose principal
objectives are to strengthen the quality of child
assessment at primary health care level through
standardised implementation of electronic algorithms,
training, mentoring and supportive supervision as well
as to evaluate the acceptability, feasibility, effectiveness
and
cost-effectiveness
of
electronic
IMCI
implementation compared to the current standard of
care.
• The Road Accident Fund (RAF)-supported patient
records
management
optimisation
project
implemented in three hospitals in KwaZulu-Natal and
the Northern Cape demonstrated a model to
improve the quality and security of medical records
management and archiving in a cost-effective manner
with the potential to improve medical records security,
and reduce the potential for litigation as a result of
inefficient medical records management.
Projects in our health systems research portfolio
conducted over the past year include the following:
• Evidence Synthesis of Universal Health Coverage
Financial Risk Protection Options and Measures – a
study investigating the challenges in the measurement
of the level of financial risk to which South African
households are exposed in accessing health services
• Job Satisfaction among nurses working in public
health facilities in South Africa – a study to assess the

extent of satisfaction experienced by all categories of
nurses in their current employment in the public
healthcare delivery system.
• A study Assessing the barriers to hypertension control
in selected primary healthcare facilities providing
chronic care services in the Zululand District
• The Tuberculosis Reduction through Expanded
Anti-retroviral Treatment and TB Screening (TREATS)
study – whose aim is to measure the impact of a
combined TB/HIV intervention of population level
screening for TB, combined with universal testing and
treatment for HIV, delivered over four years, on notified
TB incidence, prevalence of TB disease and incidence of
TB infection. This study is conducted in nine high burden
HIV and TB communities in the Western Cape
• A pilot study on the early identification of Hypertensive
Disorders of Pregnancy in resource limited settings
using digital technology conducted in Tshwane District

• The District Health Barometer 2018/19 – an annual
publication that contains the analysis and interprets data
that monitors trends for key health system indicators to
strengthen decision-making, planning and budgeting of
health managers throughout the health system. With no
direct measurement of indicators within the health
system for the Sustainable Development Goals, the
2018/19 edition introduced information on the
calculation of a Universal Health Coverage (UHC)
index for South Africa using a set of proxy indicators.
• The South African Health Review – an annual South
African health system policy implementation analysis
and review journal. The 22nd edition of the SAHR
presented a unique collection of perspectives on the
key challenges in implementing the National Health
Insurance (NHI) and Universal Health Coverage in
South Africa.
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• Continuing support for the National Health Research
Database (NHRD) – an online research application
and management tool for Provincial Health Research
Committees (PHRC’s) to more efficiently co-ordinate
and manage research activities with public health
facilities in their provinces, process research
applications to conduct research activities in public
health facilities. The NHRD also serves as a repository
of locally conducted research assisting provinces and
the NDoH to track research trends against the
country’s essential health research priorities.
With almost 8 million people living with HIV, South Africa
accounts for close to 25% of the global burden of HIV
and has the world’s largest HIV treatment programme.
The Health Systems Trust is a key role player in support
of this major national effort with our largest project the
CDC/PEPFAR-funded South Africa Sustainable Response
to HIV, AIDS and TB and Maternal and Child Health
project providing support to four high burden districts in
KwaZulu-Natal, support to provincial headquarters as
well as support to the Central Chronic Medicines
Dispensing and Distribution programme. The CCMDD
programme is an excellent example of HIV funding
providing health systems strengthening support through
improved medicines’ access for HIV/TB treatment as well
convenient medicines access for a fast-growing
population of patients with non-communicable diseases
such as hypertension and diabetes.
HIV and TB services for adolescents and paediatric
patients continue to be important health system
challenges. With support from the ELMA Foundation
targeted support over the past year has been provided
to adolescent and paediatric patients to scale up access
to, and retention in care, for these important target
groups in three districts in KwaZulu-Natal. Innovations
and achievements in this programme are also generating
useful lessons in retention in care among adolescents as
the country strives to achieve the 90-90-90 targets for
HIV and to achieve epidemic control.
This has been a unique year in which health systems the
globe over have been challenged by the COVID-19
pandemic, which arrived on South Africa’s shores in early
March 2020. With direct service delivery being a major
component of our work, the COVID-19 pandemic had a
profound impact on healthcare services country; causing
major challenges for health worker safety, impacting
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health service access and uptake with patients avoiding
health facilities due to COVID-19 concerns, negatively
impacting on treatment adherence and health outcomes.
A key part of our work over the past year was in rapidly
preparing for the COVID-19 pandemic and effectively
implementing prevention and risk mitigation measures
for staff in health facilities and workplaces, as well as
adapting our workforce and workplaces to the different
levels of COVID-19 lockdown regulations. Through
reorganisation of our operations, establishment of the
required procurement, supply chain management and
distribution systems we ensured that our staff were able
to continue to provide services in safe working
conditions. We successfully introduced innovations and
measures to ensure continued access to services for TB
and HIV patients, patients with other chronic conditions,
and the continuation of community-based services
described in further detail in this report. These efforts
produced tangible benefits demonstrated by a number of
improved health programme indicators after initial
periods of decline ensuring that, as an organisation, we
are now well-prepared to continue our operations in the
post-COVID era.
We feature a number of achievements in the Highlights
of the year section.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Unqualiﬁed audit opinions from
both funder-speciﬁc audits and our
annual statutory audit.
HST is currently managing a
project portfolio in excess of
R1 billion.
CCMDD/SyNCH: The cumulative
target of 3 million patients
registered by 2019/20 has been
exceeded with a total of 3 635 858
patients being enrolled in the
programme according to service
provider reports. SyNCH
successfully rolled out to 26
districts.
eIMCI: In uMgungundlovu district
between July 2019 and June 2020 a
total of 6969 electronic IMCI child
assessments were completed.
From March 2020 the project team
has assisted the DoH (provincial
and district level) with COVID-19related support needs, whilst
concomitantly working for
continuity of essential child health
services and eIMCI mentoring in
supported facilities.
Successfully published the South
African Health Review and the
District Health Barometer and
accompanying District Health
Proﬁles.

Unﬁnished Business for Paediatric
and Adolescent HIV: The retention-in-care rate improved from an
average of 76% to 86% among
children and adolescents aged 0−
19 years during the reporting
period. Viral load suppression in
this age group reﬂected a 10%
increase, from 78% to 88%, during
the reporting period. For continued support in the face of
COVID-19, virtual contact
through calls and messaging was
adopted to provide mentoring for
facilities. For children who could
not access services at facility level,
efforts were made to provide
services in the community through
planned household visits.

SA SURE Plus: Technical assistance
and seconded DsD towards
achieving South Africa’s 90-90-90
targets (through HIV testing
services, linkage-to-care, same-day
ART initiation and fast-track
treatment initiation counselling,
viral load monitoring and data
management support, as well as
adherence support through
community-based organisations)
has also seen a continued growth in
case-ﬁnding, treatment initiation
and retention in care. A third of
HST’s ﬁeld staff were redirected in
March 2020 to support community
screening for COVID-19, with over
2 million individuals screened by
the DoH and HST multidisciplinary
teams.

Patient records management at
public hospitals: The efﬁcient
retrieval of patient ﬁles reduced
waiting times from (on average) 60
minutes to 10 minutes.

ART scaling up transition to
Dolutegravir-based regimen: Eight
Clinicians over the age of 60, who
were assigned to work from home
due to high COVID-19 risk factors,
switched 4 894 patients to TLD in
three months.

An important achievement during
the COVID-19 pandemic has been
the continuation of the “Get
checked. Go collect” CCMDD and
HIV testing and treatment uptake
communication drive, focused on
the eThekwini district and municipality with HST’s support.

The ‘Elite 8’ were task-shifted to a
telework approach. They called 8
994 clients to educate, inform and
encourage them to switch to TLD
between May and June 2020.

Health Systems Trust Annual Report 2018/19

PAGE 2

14 HEALTH SYSTEMS TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Directorates’ Reports
The Health Systems Trust
Programmes' Directorates
constantly works towards
innovating, strengthening
collaboration and
improving on
implementation.

DIRECTORATES’ REPORTS
The Health Systems Trust (HST) operates through its Programmes, Corporate Services, Business Development and
Communications, and Human Resources units. The wide variety of projects are cross-cutting and involve inter-disciplinary collaboration across ﬁve core business areas:

01

Providing management and implementation
support in health districts

02
FIVE CORE
BUSINESS AREAS

03
04
05

Supporting implementation of priority
health programmes

Conducting essential national
health research

Generating information for planning,
monitoring, evaluation and decision-making

Offering guidance, mentoring and training
on good practice development

HST’s programmatic activities for the year in review are presented under the category which largely represents the
project area of focus.

Health Systems Trust Annual Report 2018/19

PAGE 2

16 HEALTH SYSTEMS TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

HEALTH SYSTEMS RESEARCH AND
STRENGTHENING UNITS
The Programmes’ Directorate consists of the Health Systems
Research (HSR) unit , which focuses on research, and the Health
Systems Strengthening (HSS) unit, which focuses on the
implementation of technical support on behalf of the South
African government as well as international and national
donors.
The Health Systems Trust’s programmatic support and health
systems research work extends across all levels of the health
system, including national, provincial, district and facility levels
as well as community-based structures.
The directorate is staffed with highly skilled and experienced
project managers, researchers, technical specialists, health
professionals, social scientists, facilitators and mentors across a
broad range of disciplines who are passionate health activists
dedicated to improving the health of the nation and the
communities we serve. They execute and manage projects from
health systems and policy research and programme evaluations
to evidence-informed technical support and scale-up of priority
health programmes and national health initiatives. Together,
they work seamlessly to deliver on HST’s mission to be a strong
partner in building comprehensive and equitable health systems.

PROGRAMMES’ DIRECTORATE
Ms Ntombizodwa Mbelle (Director: Health Systems
Research Directorate)
In October 2019, Ms Ntombizodwa (Zo) Mbelle joined
HST to lead the Health Systems Research (HSR) unit. The
HSR unit aims to align its research approaches and
methodologies to current thinking and trends in Health
Policy and Systems Research (HPSR), thereby placing
emphasis on conducting relevant research which informs
planning, decision- and policy-making, implementation and
service delivery. The unit conducts policy-relevant health
systems research and contributes to the evidence-base for
health on behalf of the South African government,
international and national donors. In addition to the
research project briefs and reports displayed on HST’s
website, the unit continues to disseminate health
perspectives and health information in the highly acclaimed
annual publications, the South African Health Review
(SAHR) and District Health Barometer (DHB), and
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Ms Ntombizodwa Mbelle
Director: HSR

Ms Thesandree Padayachee
Programme Manager: HSR
The Health Systems Research unit

contributes to the electronically disseminated HST Bulletin.
The unit’s knowledge management activities encourage and
facilitate the use of information for evidence-informed
decision-making by various stakeholders. HST has played an
integral role in designing and developing the National
Health Research Database (NHRD) which supports the
management and co-ordination of health research
conducted within the public health sector.
During the past financial year (2019/20), the research unit
implemented in 8 research projects using a variety of
methodological approaches to contribute to various
aspects of South Africa’s health systems’ strengthening
agenda. Among others, HSR develops and makes available
data sets which underpin research, policy development,
new and improved innovative approaches and
methodologies for use in the development of such data
sets. The unit endeavours to increasingly employ emerging
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and innovative health policy and systems research
approaches and techniques with a focus on implementation
(research to test approaches for scale-up) and operational
(improving local conditions) research. HSR fosters
broad-based research collaboration, institutional linkages
and networks. Through research and analysis of
developmental issues, it responds to the needs of
vulnerable and marginalised groups in society. By so doing,
this unit contributes to the improvement of the quality of
the lives of South Africans, residents of the other African
countries and populations globally.
During this reporting period the Health Systems Research
unit was funded mainly by the National Department of
Health (NDoH), the European and Developing Countries
Clinical Trials Partnerships (EDCTP), and the Heart and
Stroke Foundation. The principles guiding project
implementation include a focus on outcomes, evidence
generation to inform policy and practice, cost efficiency,
income generation and diversification of the unit’s funding
base in the current unfavourable economic climate with
declining funder budgets.
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The Health Systems Strengthening Unit

Ms Ronel Visser
Director: HSS

The Health Systems Strengthening (HSS) unit provides
technical support through strategic use, analysis and
distribution of information about health and related fields
to enhance district-based services as well as health system
performance. Over the past three years, support for rapid
scale up of HIV and TB service delivery at facility and
district level has become an important focus of HST’s
contribution to national efforts to reach the 90-90-90
targets for HIV and TB control by 2020. The above is
achieved through deployment of HST facilitators, technical
advisors, clinicians and other staff who work closely with
the provincial level, health district management teams and
healthcare workers to transfer skills for sustainable quality
improvement in service delivery through training and
mentoring as well as complementing implementation
capacity at the different levels.
1. MANAGEMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION
SUPPORT

Ms Joslyn Walker
Programme Manager: HSS

The South Africa Sustainable Response to HIV, AIDS, TB
and Maternal and Child Health (SA SURE Plus) partners
at the provincial, district, facility and community levels of
the health system to improve HIV and TB testing,
treatment and care, to accelerate decongestion of facilities,
and to provide support to achieve targets in line with the
UNAIDS 90-90-90 goals and specific targets set by the U.S
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in
support of national efforts towards epidemic control.
Expanding access to Differentiated Care modalities
through support for alternative access to chronic
medication (Central Chronic Medicine Dispensing and
Distribution – CCMDD) and maintaining the Synchronised
National Communication in Health (SyNCH) software,
which supports the CCMDD programmes are integral
elements of this programme.
Programme objectives

Ms Rakshika Bhana
Programme Manager: HSS
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The project objective is to strengthen health systems
through sustainable capacity development at the lowest
level within the district health system and not only
integrates national health priority actions such as 90-90-90,
primary health care (PHC) re-engineering, National Health
Insurance, the National Core Standards and the Ideal
Clinic initiative, but also focuses on improving the quality of
HIV and TB care. The project provides site-level direct
service delivery (DsD) support by placement of staff in all
tiers of the HIV cascade in facilities and communities, while

technical assistance (TA) is provided at sub-district, district and provincial levels. These activities are accompanied by a
monitoring and evaluation (M&E) framework to track changes in service delivery and assess the impact of project
interventions. This approach enables the project to adapt, improve and innovate. The diagram below illustrates the model
across all the layers of the health system as implemented by the SA SURE Plus Project.
Diagram 1: SA SURE Plus implementation model

Project location
HST is the Provincial Support Partner (PSP) for the KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health (KZN DoH), providing
strategic technical assistance to the province. The direct service delivery (DsD) model is implemented in four districts
served by HST as the District Support Partner (DSP):
• eThekwini − a high-burden metropolitan centre
• uMgungundlovu − a mixed profile of urban, peri-urban and rural populations
• uThukela – a mostly rural district with high-density towns
• Zululand – a mostly rural district with high-density towns
Project achievements
This year has seen a number of achievements attained by the SA SURE Plus project:
Technical assistance and seconded DsD towards achieving South Africa’s 90-90-90 targets (through HIV testing services,
linkage to care, same-day ART initiation and fast-track treatment initiation counselling, viral load monitoring and data
management support, as well as adherence support through community-based organisations) has also seen a continued
growth in case-finding, treatment initiation and retention in care. This is illustrated in the following table which shows
performance against targets over the period July 2019 to June 2020. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic can clearly
be seen in the poor performance for case-finding during quarter 4 (Q4), and this had an impact throughout the cascade.
However, there were positives in the excellent linkage to treatment and the achievements towards retention in treatment
(TX_CURR data).
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Table 1: SA SURE Plus performance against targets over the period July 2019 to June 2020.

The roll-out of index contact testing and HIV self-screening across all four supported districts resulted in increased
case-finding among men and youth in particular. An essential factor contributing to this scale-up in the period January 2019
to March 2020 (shown below in Figure 1) has been consolidation of training in elicitation skills in isiZulu, increased
stakeholder engagement for community entry, and the development of new and interactive tools for Lay Counsellors.
Figure 1: Index case contact testing cascade

A third of HST’s field staff were redirected in March 2020 to support community screening for COVID-19, with over 2
million individuals screened by the DoH and HST multi-disciplinary teams.
Despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the last two quarters of the year, SA SURE-supported districts
maintained the number of people on treatment through innovative facility and community-led initiatives that allowed for
a patient-centred approach to care. From February 2020, headcounts in urban facilities dropped by up to 60%, which
could have caused substantial regression of the HIV programme in these districts.
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Figure 2: Headcounts in urban facilities

Similar reductions in headcount and the ‘total remaining on ART’ (TROA) indicator were not experienced in the more
rural districts, which saw continued growth in the number of people initiated and retained on treatment.
Figure 3: Continued growth in the number of people initiated and retained on treatment

One of the innovations implemented to promote a more patient-centred approach for ART management is the
introduction of nurse-managed pick-up points in uMgungundlovu to support community antiretroviral therapy (ART)
delivery and retention in care during the first year of treatment. This saw an increase in monthly medicine delivery to
community points, as illustrated by the following graph.

The continued rollout of Differentiated Care options and alternative access to chronic medication through the CCMDD
programme and application of SyNCH software has resulted in a greater scope of options for, and range of access to
long-term treatment, for stable chronic patients.
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Future activities
District, facility and community-based support will continue to be rendered in the four supported districts and provincial
support will proceed into the final year of the grant. The approach will align with the U.S President’s Emergency Plan for
AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) categorisation of districts as retention- or fully DsD-focused, with maintained emphasis on
sustainable capacity development and support at the lowest level within the District Health System (DHS) to integrate
national health priorities and prioritise rapid acceleration towards epidemic control. The programme will also continue to
integrate COVID-19 pandemic responsiveness through improved facility preparedness and innovations in
community-based services.

List of SA SURE publications – July 2019 to June 2020
Phakama Digest
First edition – July 2019: featuring the Case Management Model
https://www.hst.org.za/publications/HST%20Publications/PHAKAMA%20DIGEST%20July%202019.pdf
Second edition – November 2019: featuring strengthening of male-centred HIV services
https://www.hst.org.za/publications/HST%20Publications/Phakama%20Digest%20November%202019_FINAL.pdf

HST blog articles
‘Supporting people living with HIV, one client at a time’ – Nicole Johnston, 3 July 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=23
‘The complexity of care: working with youth on HIV’ – Nicole Johnston, 26 July 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=24
‘Each one reach one: how HIV case management saves lives’ – Nicole Johnston, 31 July 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=25
‘Adherence support clubs deliver on multiple levels’ – Lucy Wileman Kyaw, 21 October 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=26
‘The Mobile Pick-up Point Van Project’ – Roma Ramphal, 29 October 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=27
‘Health Systems Trust launches the Pelebox Smart-locker Project’ – Roma Ramphal, 27 November 2019
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=29
‘Hard work and big hearts: how our eThekwini Youth Ambassadors gave their all in 2019’ – Judith King, 20 February
2020
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=32
‘A day in the field during COVID-19 testing: experiences from eThekwini district’ – Jennifer Ngcobo, 1 June 2020
https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/Posts/Post.aspx?ID=33

Resources
HIV Index Contact Testing Services Booklet – October 2019
Facility Supportive Supervision Toolkit – November 2019
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health HIV Testing Services Register – November 2019
Index contact testing for CBO’s: Index client information and algorithm – December 2019
Standard Operating Procedure for engaging with index contacts – January 2020
Index contact testing: Elicitation script (English and isiZulu) – February 2020
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The Central Chronic Medicines Dispensing and
Distribution (CCMDD) programme, with the technical
support of the Synchronised National Communication
in Health (SyNCH) is a Department of Health initiative
to improve access to chronic medicines for stable
patients by enabling them to pick up their repeat
medicines from a convenient pick-up point near their
home or work. Reduction of the number of stable
patients attending health facilities also improves the
efficiency of service provision by allowing health workers
to focus on those patients who need medical attention. In
order to achieve the goal two types of private service
providers were contracted to render the following
services:
• Service providers for dispensing and distribution of
medication.
• Service providers to render pick-up point services
(collection points for dispensed repeat medicines by
patients).
Achievements
• A concerted effort has been made to merge the
programmatic (CCMDD) and system (SyNCH)
components, as it should be. SyNCH is creating an
enabling environment for the programme to improve
its efficiencies across the value chain.
• The HST CCMDD support structure has grown to a
staff complement of 12 resources, supporting both
national and provincial activities.
• The national component was responsible for
developing and implementing a number of new tools,
guidelines and policies to improve the governance of
the programme.
• Examples include:
The adoption of a new programme monitoring
approach called ADRES+, with the sole purpose of
managing and reporting key activities in a more
structured format. The acronym stands for A (add
new registrations), D (decrease the dormant
patients), R (reduce rejections), E (increase external
pick-up points – PuP’s) and S+ (to support SyNCH
activities and improve stock management).
A new rejection tool has been developed in support
of the above approach with a targeted focus on
identifying specific themes/causes for rejections and
to mobilise the relevant interventions to address the
concerns

New standard operating procedures (SOP’s) were
developed to support facilities to transition patients to
the new TLD (Tenofovir, Lamivudine, Dolutegravir)
formulation
• The COVID-19 pandemic introduced a number of
challenges which, through the use of the above tools
and SyNCH, we were able to mitigate and reduce
any service delivery interruptions with ease.
• New SyNCH system features were developed and
deployed:
PuP closure notifications and functions.
Extended collection windows to allow patients
additional time to collect their medicines due to
traveling restrictions being imposed.
Allowed prescriptions to be extended for a
further 6 months, in response to Regulation
43260, to prevent patients from going back to
crowded facilities to collect their medicines.
Prescriptions thus had a validity period of 12
months.
Developed additional features to enable home
delivery of medicine parcels.
• At provincial level we have deployed 6 mobile vans
in eThekwini Metro to increase our reach to the
communities. As a result, over 2 700 patients have
been registered and are collecting their medicines
through this channel.
• We have also installed 6 Peleboxes in the same
region with more than 4 500 patients collecting
their medicines from these alternative collection
points.
• Through the Siyenza initiative, we have deployed
SyNCH to a total of 1 622 new facilities and 820
new pick-up points over a three-month period.
• During April 2020 we reached a massive milestone
of 1 million patients being registered on SyNCH.
The cumulative target of 3 million patients registered
by 2019/20 has been exceeded with a total of 3 635
858 patients being enrolled on the programme
according to service provider reports.
• The programme is active in all 46 (100%) targeted
districts (this excludes the Western Cape) across 3
423 facilities
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• A total number of 2 526 external PuP’s were registered.
• There has been proven and improved decongestion at
facilities due to the utilisation of external PuP’s.
An important achievement during the COVID-19
pandemic has been the continuation of the “Get
checked. Go collect” CCMDD and HIV testing and
treatment uptake communication drive, focused on
the eThekwini district and municipality with HST’s
support. This is a multi-partner effort in which HST
has played a leading role with support from CDC/PEPFAR and the National Department of Health.
Within HST it is a collaboration between the Communications Unit and the SA SURE Plus project. This
time around the campaign was wholly online due to
the restrictions placed on face-to-face interactions.
The target of 1 000 000 people reached via Facebook
was exceeded and 1 523 018 users were reached
with key messages on adherence, onboarding treatment and transitioning to TLD. 248 399 people were
reached via WhatsaApp through targeted campaigns
to test their knowledge of CCMDD and their willingness to remain on treatment or go on treatment.
Web and radio also showed marked uptake with over
18 000 people engaged on this platform. Correlation
was also shown between a survey conducted to
establish numbers for medicine collection via a specific pick-up point and signing up for CCMDD. Overall
528 respondents to the WhatsApp survey replied in
the afﬁrmative for sign up and medicine collection
which correlates well with 525 conﬁrmed by HST
M&E enumerated via the Tick Register.

The Unfinished Business for Paediatric and Adolescent HIV project (UB) in KwaZulu-Natal (KZN)
teams work in collaboration with the SA SURE Plus
Project facility-based teams in supporting the implementation of priority programmes to improve HIV
case-finding, linkage to care and ART treatment
outcomes for the age group 0−19 years. The UB
Consortium consists of a lead technical partner, CHAI,
and implementing partners HST, MatCH, ANOVA,
Wits RHI, and AFSA implementing the project in priority districts in KZN and Gauteng. The UB Project is
currently in Phase II of implementation in three
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KwaZulu-Natal districts, namely uMgungundlovu,
eThekwini and Zululand, supporting 61 facilities.
Whilst Phase II support in Zululand and eThekwini
districts began in May 2019, transition to uMgungundlovu took place in October 2019 when HST formally
transitioned into uMsunduzi Sub-district. Phase II activities are aimed at, scaling up successful 90-90-90 strategies implemented in Phase I, refining strategies that
have the potential to yield improved outcomes and,
testing new strategies in line with the overall strategic
plans of the UB consortium.
Aligned to the consortium’s timelines, the following
upscaled strategies were implemented:
• Key entry-point HIV Testing Services (HTS) and
index contact testing was scaled up in facilities to
improve case-finding among children and
adolescents aged 0−19 years, through the
deployment of Lay Counsellors in high-volume
facilities. This led to an increase in case-identification,
with 4 049 children identified as HIV-positive during
the period, reaching 66.5% of the annual project
target.
• Clinic Support Days were hosted in facilities to
ensure delivery of comprehensive services to
HIV-positive children and adolescents. These events
are aimed at improving the quality of care for
children by ensuring that they receive both clinical
and psychosocial support interventions during one
facility visit, thus increasing their adherence to
treatment. Ten of the 20 targeted facilities are
implementing Clinic Support Days and data from
these facilities indicated an average 8% decrease in
the number of children lost to follow-up.
• Facility-based psychosocial support for children in
care is provided through mentorship of Lay
Counsellors at facility level. Alongside this support,
the project supported monitoring of viral loads
among children in care. The retention-in-care rate
improved from an average of 76% to 86% among
children and adolescents aged 0−19 years during
the reporting period. Viral load suppression in this
age group reflected a 10% increase, from 78% to
88%, during the reporting period.

The following strategies were refined and implemented:
• Community case-finding was enhanced through the
use of a two-way referral system between health
facilities and community-based organisations (CBO’s).
The community case finding model was piloted in
Zululand district through a CBO that provided
community-based testing and mobilisation of youth in
the community for testing. In total, 103 HIV-positive
children and adolescents were identified through this
modality during the reporting period.
• Linkage to care was improved through using the ‘PCR
Results for Action’ dashboard as well as TIER.Net
reports to identify children who had not been linked to
care. Roving teams mentored Linkage Officers and
Data Capturers placed in facilities, who used these
reports to trace and link children to care. The linkage
rates for children aged 0−19 averaged at 98% across
the three supported districts during the reporting
period.
The project is currently testing the following strategies:
• Use of the MTV Shuga coming-of-age drama series
(following the lives of young friends in a bustling
township as they navigate their sexual health,
relationships and family issues) is aimed at improving
young people’s access to information on HIV and
sexual and reproductive health.
• A community-facility Case Management Model for
children on antiretroviral therapy is being implemented
to ensure that psychosocial support for children
continues at community level.
• The National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS)
Results for Action dashboard (designed to identify
children needing follow-up based on their HIV test
results and generating reports for field teams to use in
case management of children in care) is being piloted.
Key challenges for the period were related to the
COVID-19 pandemic, which led to disruptions in the
continuity of service provision for children in care. This
resulted in a decrease in the number of children accessing
health facilities for care and support, and compelled
roving teams to limit their face-to-face contact with
facility teams. For continued support, virtual contact
through calls and messaging was adopted to provide
mentoring for facilities. For children who could not access
services at facility level, efforts were made to provide

services in the community through planned household
visits.
The key lessons learnt during the reporting period include:
• Having a resource to oversee service provision for a
particular age group is demonstrably beneficial, as the
Adolescent and Youth-friendly Services (AYFS) entry
point case-finding outcomes show. Youth Ambassadors
played a major role in improving case-finding for the 15
−19 age group.
• Community-based services and support contribute to
promising outcomes for children in care.
• Psychosocial interventions are central in ensuring that
children remain in care and adhere to treatment.
Planned efforts are focused on mitigating COVID-19related delays in implementation of activities through
increasing resources that target community-based services
for children and adolescents and investigating virtual
support platforms that can be used for enhancing support
group services for target populations.
The electronic Integrated Management of Childhood
Illness (eIMCI) project is an innovation project nested
under the Unfinished Business project for Paediatric and
Adolescent HIV in KwaZulu-Natal and supports 31 health
facilities in uMgungundlovu and iLembe districts. The
principal project objectives are to:
- Strengthen the quality of child assessment at primary
care level through standardised implementation of
electronic algorithms, training, mentoring and supportive
supervision.
- Evaluate acceptability, feasibility, effectiveness and
cost-effectiveness of electronic IMCI implementation
compared to the current standard of care.
As South Africa is still faced with high levels of child
mortality there is a need to maintain and strengthen
programmes aimed at improving child survival. Integrated
Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) is the
cornerstone of care for the sick child under five years at
the primary health care level, but the implementation has
remained poor. The eIMCI project is conducted in
partnership with the KwaZulu-Natal Department of
Health with the view towards a phased implementation
within available DoH resources for Information Technology
(IT).
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The software entails a decision support tool built on an
electronic medical record (EMR) system developed to
facilitate efficient, accurate and comprehensive child
assessments. In 2018 phase one implementation
demonstrated good acceptability and promising uptake in
uMgungundlovu district.

Illustration 4: Treatment summary with all classiﬁcations and treatments
relevant to the child

Illustration 1: Pop-up windows to prompt immediate treatment of
urgent conditions

Building on lessons from phase one, a second project
phase was commenced to include an incremental scale-up
in two KwaZulu-Natal districts (uMgungundlovu and
iLembe) with stronger mentoring and supervision
components as well as evaluation of the feasibility and
effectiveness of implementing eIMCI. The effectiveness
study is carried out in iLembe district with the University
of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) as the principal investigator,
whereas the feasibility study is conducted in
uMgungundlovu district by HST and KZN DoH. A
project-specific steering committee chaired by the KZN
DoH oversees and guides the research and
implementation.
Achievements
• A standardised model with resources for implementation
was developed for the eIMCI software, the hardware
specifications, and the training and mentoring process.

Illustration 2: Automatic generation of z-scores for weight-for-age,
weight-for-height and height-for age

• Electronic IMCI scale-up has continued in uMgungundlovu
district (currently 22 sites) and roll-out was started in
iLembe district (currently 9 sites) from February 2020.
• In uMgungundlovu district between July 2019 and June
2020 a total of 6 969 electronic IMCI child assessments
were completed.
• The eIMCI acceptability evaluation was published in
November 2019 in the journal “Paediatrics and
International Child Health.”

Illustration 3: Compulsory screening for danger signs with explanatory
graphic illustration
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• From March 2020 the project team has assisted the
DoH (provincial and district level) with COVID-19related support needs, whilst concomitantly working for
continuity of essential child health services and eIMCI
mentoring in supported facilities.

Lessons learned
• Several health system factors have impacted the nurse’s
ability to implement the eIMCI system, most importantly
challenges in staff allocation, understaffing and technical
IT challenges.
• The COVID-19 outbreak has required adapting project
approaches and timelines due to rapidly changing needs
and circumstances at the coal face.
Going forward the project will continue the eIMCI
scale-up and research evaluations in iLembe and
uMgungundlovu districts, with parallel COVID-19-related
activities and with an increased urgency around activities
that could assist in the recovery of essential child health
services.
Patient records management at public hospitals: As
an implementing partner of the Road Accident Fund
(RAF), the Health Systems Trust completed a second year
of activities to review and optimise records management
systems at three identified hospitals since 2018. These
hospitals are: the Robert Mangaliso Sobukwe Hospital in
Northern Cape and Ngwelezana Hospital and King
Edward Vlll Hospital in KwaZulu-Natal.
The relevant acts, national and provincial regulations as
well as guidelines, formed the reference framework within
which the project’s scope was defined, planned and
executed. The aim of the project was to review and
optimise records’ management systems for the benefit of
claimants, funders and facilities. Amongst the key
objectives of the project were:
• to improve the security of clinical records management
and thus reduce the incidence of missing information
due to poor patient records management for road
accident victims which has:
impacted negatively on patient’s ability to claim
compensation from the Road Accident Fund for
serious injuries,
increased the risks of medical litigation against
provincial departments of health due to missing
information or poorly kept patient records.
• Implement interventions which will support and
handover a patient record management system that
meets the national guidelines for filing, archiving and
disposal of patient records.
• Improve the efficiency of hospital patient medical
records management, storage and archiving.

The projects were implemented in a manner that
optimised the use of local human resources as much as
possible, resulting in economic benefits for the
communities where the projects were located. Project
team members were sourced from surrounding technical,
vocational, education and training (TVET) colleges and
contracted through the respective hospitals to assist with
the manual tasks of sorting, culling and archiving of patient
records and capturing of archived registers. Local small
contractors with previous experience with infrastructure
support work at hospitals were contracted for the minor
infrastructure work associated with the projects.
Anecdotal evidence was gathered at close-out meetings
with regard to outcomes that were achieved during the
different engagements as follows:
• A team approach brought a systematic approach and
order to an unco-ordinated records environment
through the implementation of basic principles to
ensure the safekeeping of patient files. The main aim of
this intervention was to assist in the containment of
medico-legal costs for the National Department of
Health (NDoH). Close collaboration between hospital
management structures, HST and the RAF was essential
in the implementation effort, implementation of the
recommendations and for sustainability of the
implemented solutions. The efficient retrieval of
patient files reduced waiting times from (on average)
60 minutes to 10 minutes, as stated by the records
supervisor at Ngwelezana Hospital.
• In terms of operational improvements, searching for and
finding patient files in active records areas became
easier due to the archiving methodology deployed. Staff
also emphasised how the organised filing system
improved service efficiencies in retrieving files from the
records departments, and the quality of the new bulk
filing cabinets was also noted as a great improvement
on what had previously been available.
• The community benefits of the project were
demonstrated in a contribution to job-creation and
improving the local economy; six local people per
hospital were hired as project staff and, as a result of
their performance in these short-term contracts, some
were approached with offers for full-time employment.
Local contractors were also used to do the work at the
hospitals.
There was a clearly expressed need for expansion of this
project when funding is available, based on the feedback of
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the supported hospitals. Based on the cost-effective
manner in which improvements were achieved, expansion
of such an approach could have significant benefits for
medical records management in many hospitals. With the
advent of COVID-19 and the accompanying rapid
increase in the volume of medical records at some
facilities across the country, efficient systems for storage
and archiving of records will be required for the records of
patients with a new disease about whose long-term
sequelae little is known.
The following images showcase the project’s impact at
Robert Mangaliso Sobukwe Hospital in that thoughtful
planning and funding enabled changes to enhance the
security of patient records, which also indirectly
contributed to infection control measures in the context
of COVID-19).

During installation

After installation

The following images showcases the project’s impact at
King Edward Vlll Hospital, through collaboration, planning
and funding that enabled patient record security.

Before
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After project implementation

2. IMPLEMENTATION OF PRIORITY HEALTH
PROGRAMMES
In 2018, the Health Systems Trust, received a grant from
Grand Challenges Canada (GCC) to conduct proof of
concept research entitled “A pilot study to test the use of
digital technology to prevent Maternal deaths from Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy in Tshwane.” The 18-month
mixed method research study received ethical approval
from the Sefako Makgatho Health Science University
Ethical Committee (Ref. No. SMUREC/E/187/2018: IR).
The implementation phase for data collection ended July
2019. One-hundred women (20–30 weeks pregnant,
normotensive and registered on MomConnect) were
given Cradle VSA (WHO-approved blood pressure
devices for use in pregnancy in resource-poor settings) to
do self-home blood pressure readings and to submit data
on an App using an android phone to a digital platform.
The digital platform was designed to used the South
African national guideline for blood pressure assessment in
pregnancy to individualise the blood pressure trends from
a baseline blood pressure reading on enrolment. The rule
states that an increase of systolic blood pressure of
30mmHg and 15mmHg for diastolic of pregnant women
after 20 weeks is suspicious and needs attention even if the
threshold of 140/90 has not been reached.
The digital platform gave a 25-day graphic display of each
blood pressure reading for easy observation of deviations
and trends. Project midwives observed the blood pressure
readings on a dashboard that reported the daily deviations
based on deviations where green means no deviation on
systolic, diastolic or pulse rate, amber a deviation on one of
the measures and red meant it exceeded the threshold for
one or more criteria. Women were also educated on the
7 signs and symptoms of preeclampsia in line with
international messages using face-to-face sharing, a

brochure and 30 digital messages on the phone every 4
days.
On the 21st of August 2019, members of the team (Dr
Joan Dippenaar, Ms Antoinette Stafford Cloete, Ms Motlatsi
Kekana and Sr Martha Ditshego) facilitated a workshop at
the annual Society of Midwives of South Africa (SOMSA)
conference entitled, “Information provision and creating
awareness on pre-eclampsia. Closing the communication
loop.”
Analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data took place
from August –October 2019. The GCC project came to an
end in October 2019 with the submission of the final
progress and financial reports. As per the project
deliverables the research findings were to be published in
an open source journal, within 12 months after the
completion of the grant period.

and understanding the challenges in the measurement of
the level of financial risk to which South African
households are exposed in accessing health services. The
mixed methods study employed quantitative and
qualitative approaches and included a review of literature
on financial risk and the methods to estimate
out-of-pocket (OOP) expenditure by households and
other FRP indicators at local and international level, a
critical assessment of the data sources currently available in
South Africa and an analysis of various stakeholders’
perspectives on the subject.
It also included a secondary analysis of microdata from
seven national household surveys carried out between
2008 and 2017 and the estimation of trends in various FRP
indicators. Figure 4 below shows trends in average
out-of-pocket expenditure for health services experienced
by South African households as estimated by the study.

3. CONDUCTING ESSENTIAL NATIONAL
HEALTH RESEARCH
The work of the HSR unit aligns with the essential national
health research priorities of the country which aim to
promote research on country-specific problems and
priorities in order to support decision-making relating to
health policy and management. To this end, the HSR
research portfolio makes important and relevant
contributions to health systems research with particular
significance to the rapidly transforming public health
context in South Africa.
Evidence Synthesis of Universal Health Coverage
Financial Risk Protection Options and Measures –
Financial risk protection (FRP) is a key component of
universal health coverage (UHC), which is defined as
access to all needed quality health services without
financial hardship. Universal health coverage is included
within Goal 3 (Good Health and Well-being) of the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG’s), and numerous
other strategy and policy documents. Sustainable
Development Goal 3.8 aims to achieve universal health
coverage, including financial risk protection, access to
quality essential healthcare services and access to safe,
effective, quality and affordable essential medicines and
vaccines for all. In order to achieve UHC, two foundational
issues must be addressed, i.e. service coverage and financial
risk protection.
In this financial year, the NDoH commissioned the HSR
Unit to undertake a study with the objective of describing
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Figure 4: Trends in average out-of-pocket (OOP) expenditure on medical products, in-patient services and out-patient
services by South African households. Estimates and 95% conﬁdence bands.

The graph shows the average annual OOP expenditure in
South African Rand by SA households that was estimated
using a statistical model called a “generalised additive
metaregression model” and the pooled data from the
seven surveys (IES2000, IES2005/6, NIDS2008, LCS2008/9,
IES2010/11, LCS2014/15, NIDS2017). It presents a
synthesis of all analysed data. The shaded areas represent
the 95% confidence bands for the above estimates.
The study recommended the following to the National
Department of Health:
• Use one of the two repeated cross-sectional household
surveys, the Income and Expenditure Survey (IES) and
the Living Condition Surveys (LCS), currently carried
out by Statistics South Africa as the main method to
track out-of-pocket expenditure on health and financial
risk protection;
• Ensure that surveys carried out in the future always
include measures of unmet health needs to complement
indicators of risk protection based on expenditure;
• Conduct an internal exercise to define the details of the
most appropriate FRP indicator to track temporal trends
at national and sub-national levels;
• Carry out a national health accounts exercise to
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complement survey data and achieve a better
quantification of actual level of out-of-pocket
expenditure for health in the country.
Job Satisfaction among nurses working in public
health facilities in South Africa – Health facilities are
complex spaces where the behaviours and actions of
nurses affect health outcomes, interpersonal relationships
and personal safety. A link between nursing satisfaction and
patient outcomes through improved health worker
performance has been proven. Policy-makers have
acknowledged that strategic reorientation of the nursing
profession is needed in South Africa to establish a health
service that provides improved access and quality
healthcare. It is within this context that the NDoH
commissioned HST to conduct this study.
The primary aim of the study was to gauge the extent of
satisfaction experienced by all categories of nurses in their
current employment in the public healthcare delivery
system. The specific objectives were, (1) to identify the
extent of job satisfaction levels amongst public sector
nurses, (2) to describe the factors (intrinsic and extrinsic)
affecting nursing staff job satisfaction in the public sector in
South Africa, and (3) to determine the effects of key human
resources strategies, i.e. occupational specific dispensation,
Health Systems Trust Annual Report 2018/19

rural allowance and bursary scheme strategies on job
satisfaction. This cross-sectional, mixed methods study
which employed quantitative and qualitative approaches
was conducted nationally, datasets analysed and integrated.
The national survey component of the study was
conducted remotely using online self-administered
questionnaires and telephonic interviews for data
collection, with 836 survey interviews successfully
conducted with nurses and 17 key informant interviews
conducted with selected managers.
Of the 99 sampled facilities, a response rate of 79.8%
(n=79) was realised. Overall, the survey findings showed
that nurses were moderately satisfied both at extrinsic and
intrinsic levels. Overall, job satisfaction was highest in the
Western Cape and lowest in Northern Cape and
Gauteng. The qualitative data revealed that managers, in
contrast, considered primary health care nurses as being
dissatisfied with their jobs but also observed some
satisfaction among some nurses on varied aspects of their
jobs. An additional factor which contributed to levels of
satisfaction, was burnout, which was also explored.
Findings showed that the lowest levels of burnout were
observed in the Western Cape and the highest in
Gauteng. Managers acknowledged the existence of
burnout and felt that nurses were dealing with internal and
external issues that caused strain and stress amongst
nurses. Length of time as a nurse appeared to be the most
consistent significant predictor of low levels of job
satisfaction and high risk of burnout.
A large proportion of nurses seemed unsure regarding the
effect of the three human resource strategies (Occupation
Specific Dispensation, Bursary Scheme, Rural allowance).
The majority agreed that the policies increased career
development opportunities and did not increase retention
or improve their personal performance. Managers
reported that job satisfaction was in some ways both
positively and negatively influenced by the key human
resource strategies. Managers also mentioned that the
varied implementation processes negatively influenced the
key human resource strategies.
Assessing the barriers to hypertension control in
selected primary healthcare facilities providing
chronic care services in the Zululand District – This
study builds on the findings of a study conducted by the
HST in 2018 which assessed the quality of chronic care
services delivered in selected facilities with a particular
focus on diabetes and hypertension services’ provision

and control. This study further explored challenges to
achieving hypertension control, with specific focus on user
and provider perspectives and experiences of poor
hypertension control. The objectives were to determine
patient knowledge, attitudes and behaviour regarding
hypertension control and to investigate both patient and
provider perspectives of the barriers to hypertension
control.
The study, located in the Zululand District, was designed as
a cross-sectional qualitative, explorative descriptive study
and was conducted in 6 selected primary healthcare
facilities. Qualitative data was collected through face-to-face
key informant interviews (KII’s) with hypertensive patients
and in-depth interviews were conducted with healthcare
workers who were providing hypertension care and district
level officials who were involved in and/or responsible for
the provision of hypertension care services.
The COVID-19 lockdown necessitated the modification of
certain aspects of the study which required careful
planning of data collection methods which were
subsequently adapted and allowed data collection to be
successfully completed before the end of the financial year,
with ample time for analysis and reporting before the
project end date of September 2020.
Tuberculosis
Reduction
through
Expanded
Anti-retroviral Treatment and TB Screening
(TREATS) Project – It is widely known that Tuberculosis
(TB) has overtaken the Human Immunodeficiency Virus
(HIV) as the leading infectious cause of death worldwide
and requires work for it to be controlled in line with the
World Health Organization (WHO) Stop-TB goal to “end
TB.” Some of the best evidence to date of how to control
TB at the population level in the context of HIV comes
from the Zambia South Africa TB and HIV Reduction
(ZAMSTAR) trial, where a household-level TB/HIV
intervention including TB symptom screening, HIV
counselling and testing with linkage to care and isoniazid
preventive therapy (IPT) as indicated, was offered to all
household members of TB patients. Despite only reaching
6% of households in the intervention, the data showed a
nearly 20% reduction in TB disease prevalence and 50%
reduction in TB infection incidence at the population-level,
although the effects were of borderline statistical
significance. Increasing the scope of the intervention to all
households and thus all members, may therefore
significantly change the burden of TB.
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The TREATS project builds on the experience of
ZAMSTAR and is nested within the ongoing HPTN 071
(PopART) trial in Zambia and South Africa. This project
evaluates the effect of a combination TB/HIV prevention
intervention implemented in the PopART trial to address
the question of whether population level screening for
tuberculosis, combined with universal testing and
treatment (UTT) for HIV can significantly reduce the
prevalence of TB and “End TB”.
The overall aim of this project is to measure the impact of
a combined TB/HIV intervention of population level
screening for TB, combined with UTT for HIV, delivered
over 4 years, on notified TB incidence, prevalence of TB
disease and incidence of TB infection.
Locations
The project communities are located in the City of Cape
Town Metropolitan Municipality and Cape Winelands
District of the Western Cape Province (9 districts in total).
• Delft South (Metro District)
• Kuyasa (Metro District)
• Wellington (Cape Winelands District)
• Luvuyo (Metro District)
• Town II (Metro District)
• Ikhwezi (Metro District)
• Bloekombos (Metro District)
• Dalevale (Cape Winelands District)
• Cloetesville & Idas Valley (Cape Winelands District)
Study Sample and Project Duration
The “Infection cohort” was recruited between November
2018 and May 2019 in 6 of the districts. Just over three
hundred adolescents and young adults (15–24 years of
age) were recruited in each district (total 2002) over a
period of 4–6 months. This cohort will be followed up for
a total period of 24 months each with phone contact
every 6 months and 2 annual visits. The last follow up visit
will be completed in 2020.
A total of 24 000 adolescents and adults (15 years of age
and older) will be recruited over a period of 18 months in
a cascading approach (1 district at a time).
Project Achievements
Stakeholder engagements/communication
• A case study trip was conducted in September 2019 by
the TREATS Consortium communications lead from
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The Union. Where photography and interviewing of
participants and study staff were conducted in both
Zambia and South Africa.
• The team continues to provide updates to the
Provincial Department of Health and local stakeholders
who continue to support the project.
• Three staff members attended the third annual TREATS
meeting in Livingstone, Zambia in October 2019.
• The team drafted a news article (for the TREATS
website) about the completion of the intensive
diagnostic phase of the TB Prevalence Survey in Luvuyo,
South Africa: https://treatsproject.org/latest-news.
Infection Cohort Study
• Retention follow up calls and the first annual (12
month) follow up visits for the Infection Cohort Study
were conducted in 2019. This visit also included
feedback of baseline Quantiferon-plus (QFT-plus)
results to participants. A total of 1491 participants
completed this first annual visit with each participant
having a blood sample taken for QFT-plus assay, offered
an HIV rapid test, screened for TB and subsequently
linked to care as appropriate. In addition, planning for
the final 18-month retention phone calls and results
feedback were conducted.
Prevalence Survey
• For the prevalence survey, for screening and testing for
TB, the OneStopTB mobile truck was deployed in three
study communities. The truck is an all-in-one diagnostic
and testing centre with a built-in automated digital x-ray
compartment, and a laboratory fitted with two
GeneXpert machines which detects TB within
approximately two hours.
• Fieldwork in the second community was conducted in
2019 and 2020, yielding a total of 14 442 enumerated
community members. Of these 7 818 were eligible
participants and were enrolled in the study. Specific
retention strategies were used to ensure the return of
participants to be assessed by the Medical Officer (MO)
and referred for treatment where needed.
Recruitment
• The prevalence survey teams which consisted of 14
data collectors and 5 counsellors were recruited from
the communities where the survey took place.

Capacity-building
• As part of the TREATS project, in collaboration with the
London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine
(LSHTM), a two-year Tropical Epidemiology Group
(TEG) training Fellowship on medical statistics was
offered to Jacob Busang. The TEG fellow studied at the
LSHTM for a year from September 2019 which will be
followed by a one-year work attachment at HST’s
TREATS study site. For more on Jacob please go to the
HST blog at: https://www.hst.org.za/media/blog/Lists/
Posts/Post.aspx?ID=31

Participant being interviewed during prevalence survey. Photo courtesy
European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP)

• Part of capacitating staff skills, Infection Cohort Study
Data Collectors were trained by the HST Training Unit
and accredited as HIV Counselling and Testing (HCT)
Counsellors. TREATS fieldwork will be coming to an
end in December 2020 and other desk-top work such
as data cleaning and analysis among others will be
completed in 2021.

4. INFORMATION FOR PLANNING,
MONITORING, EVALUATION AND
DECISION-MAKING
District Health Barometer 2018/19
The District Health Barometer (DHB) 2018/19, the 14th
publication since 2005, was funded by the National
Department of Health. The aim of the project is to
develop an annual publication containing the results of the
analysis and interpretation of aggregated and
disaggregated data that monitors trends for key health
system indicators to strengthen decision-making, planning
and budgeting of health managers throughout the health
system. The DHB thus functions as a tool for health-sector
managers to monitor and evaluate not only trends in
health status and service delivery, but also the underlying
quality of routinely collected health information in South
Africa. With just a decade left to realise the Sustainable
Development Goals, and no direct measurement of many
of these indicators within the health system, the 2018/19
edition introduced information on the calculation of a
Universal Health Coverage index for South Africa using a
set of proxy indicators.
The DHB 2018/19 draws data from a wide range of
databases including, the District Health Information
Software (WebDHIS) the Ideal Clinic Realisation and
Maintenance (ICRM) system, Statistics South Africa
(StatsSA), the National Treasury Basic Accounting System
(BAS), the National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS),

OneStopTB mobile truck stationed in Luvuyo (Khayelitsha) during
prevalence survey. Photo courtesy European & Developing Countries
Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP)

Community sensitisation and mobilisation during TREATS study. Photo
courtesy European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership
(EDCTP)
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the National Electronic Tuberculosis Register (ETR.Net) and
the Electronic Drug-resistant Tuberculosis Register
(EDR.Net. Compilation of the DHB is guided by a technical
workgroup made up of managers from the NDoH, Health
Information System Program (HISP) and HST. The DHB
2018/19 contains a Section A with 46 indicators with trend
illustrations and profiles of South Africa, the nine provinces
and 52 districts. Twenty-four authors wrote the chapters in
Section A which were peer-reviewed by seven peer
reviewers, whilst HST compiled the district chapters. The
publication was released in February 2019 and 3 000 books
were distributed to the National Department of Health,
provincial Departments of Health and health districts as
well as to other institutions and individuals on request.
The publication is also available on the Health Systems Trust
website at: https://www.hst.org.za/publications/
Pages/DISTRICT-HEALTH-BAROMETER-201819.aspx

From left to right: Dr Yogan Pillay (DDG for
Communicable & Non-communicable Diseases,
Prevention , Treatment and Rehabilitation –
NDoH), Ms Naomi Massyn (HST: DHB),
Mr Shadrack Mpetla (HST: Board Deputy
Chairperson)

From left to right: Ms Noluthando Ndlovu (HST), Mr Andy Gray (UKZN:
School of Health Sciences), Ms Candy Day (HST)
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District Health Barometer: District Health
Profiles 2018/19
This was the second publication of the District Health
Barometer: District Health Profiles (DHB: DHP). It was
also funded by the National Department of Health.
The data is structured to guide District Management
Teams to determine health priorities of their
respective districts. The publication has also been timed
to coincide with the health sector’s planning cycle. It
therefore serves as an important resource for the
development of District Health Plans (DHP’s) for the
period 2020/21–2021/22 by the 52 districts. The
district profiles are aligned to the DHP template of the
National Department of Health. Each of the district
health profiles contains a wide range of social
determinants of health, financial and health and service
data, highlighting inequities in health outcomes,
health-resource allocation and the efficiency of health
processes in the districts to be addressed in plan
development. Data are drawn from the electronic
District Health Information Software (WebDHIS), the
Ideal Clinic Realisation and Maintenance system,
Statistics South Africa surveys, the National Treasury
Basic Accounting System, the Personnel Administration
System (PERSAL), the TIER.Net for Tuberculosis (TB)
and antiretroviral (ART) data, the Electronic
Drug-resistant Tuberculosis Register, the National
Income Dynamics Study (NiDS) and other National
Department of Health information systems.
The publication was compiled by HST and is only
available on our website at: https://www.hst.org.za/
publications/Pages/DHBProfiles201819.aspx

South African Health Review

National Health Research Database

The South African Health Review (SAHR) is widely
recognised as one of the most authoritative sources of
commentary on the South African health system. It is used
in teaching at various levels of the education system and is
a valuable resource for policy and decision-makers, donors,
journalists, public health specialists, healthcare workers,
academics and students in higher learning institutions.

The National Health Research Database (NHRD) was
created by HST in collaboration with the National
Department of Health (NDoH) in 2014. It was designed
and developed to be an online research application and
management tool for Provincial Health Research
Committees (PHRC’s) to more efficiently co-ordinate and
manage research activities with public health facilities in
their provinces and to also process research applications
to conduct research activities in public health facilities.
Over the years, the NHRD has evolved to also serve as a
repository of locally conducted research, fulfilling a more
strategic function in assisting the provincial and national
departments of health to track research trends against the
country’s essential health research priorities. A key
recommendation of the National Health Research
Summit 2018, was the need for a “national monitoring and
evaluation system of health research that will be a
repository for all information on research for health,
including products thereof. Such a system should be based
on credible collection, monitoring, evaluation, translation
and reporting, and it should prioritise the strengthening of
national programmes such as the National Health
Research Observatory (NHRO), National Health
Insurance (NHI), the National Health Research Database
(NHRD) and the District Health Information System
(DHIS).” With more than 9 000 studies now registered on
the NHRD, HST’s HSR Unit is paving the way for
policy-makers to access locally relevant research to
support evidence-informed decision-making.

Most significantly, the SAHR’s recommendations have had
an acknowledged influence on policy; as policy-makers use
its findings as evidence for positive change. One of the
intentions of the SAHR is to inspire further frank debate,
analysis, research and innovation to guide the country on
its journey towards universal access for all to a quality
health system.
The 2019 edition of the South African Health Review was
released in January 2020. Offered in memory of Health
Systems Trust Board Member and health activist
extraordinaire, Professor David Sanders who passed away
in 2019, this 22nd edition of the SAHR presents a unique
collection of perspectives on the key challenges in
implementing the National Health Insurance (NHI) and
Universal Health Coverage (UHC) in South Africa.
In keeping with the organisation’s commitment to
strengthening public health capacity and expertise within
the health arena, the 2019 edition also featured the work
of the first recipient of HST’s Healthcare Workers’ Writing
Programme, which offers writing skills training and ongoing
coaching throughout the publication process for identified
first-time authors. The SAHR team also hosted a webinar
on broadening the national discourse on how SA can best
achieve a universal health system.

From left to right: Ms Ashnie Padarath (HST: SAHR), Ms Thulile Zondi
(Chief Director for Health Information, Research and M&E - NDoH),
Mr Shadrack Mpetla (HST: Board Deputy Chairperson)

In the 2019/20 financial year, HST worked in close
collaboration with the NDoH and the National Health
Research Committee (NHRC) to pilot a fully-automated
classification system for the categorisation of the research
applications stored on the NHRD. The automated
classification system generated trend data according to
internationally recognised health categories. In future, we
hope to integrate the automated classification system into
the NHRD to create further reporting efficiencies. A
poster entitled “Trends in research conducted in public
health facilities in South Africa 2014–2018: an analysis of
the National Health Research Database of the results of
the automated classification system” was presented at the
Public Health Association of South Africa (PHASA)
Conference in September 2019 by Dr Annibale Cois and
Ms Thesandree Padayachee of HST.
In June 2019, a request was made by the NDoH and the
NHRC Monitoring and Evaluation Working Group for
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HST to develop and test an integrated module of the
NHRD for use by Academic Health Complexes (AHC’s).
The NHRD team thus expanded the functionality of the
NHRD by developing a tailor-made solution for AHC’s at
the request of the NHRC. This solution offers enhanced
protection of intellectual property and aims to decrease
turnaround times within provinces where demand for
research is high. The solution was developed and piloted at
the Steve Biko Academic Hospital and Kalafong Hospital
with promising results for further expansion into more
AHC’s in future.

Dr Annibale Cois (HST) presenting a
poster at the PHASA Conference.

The year in review also saw greater engagement and
collaboration between HST and the Medical Research
Council (MRC) in the development of the South African
National Clinical Trials Register (SANCTR). Ms Thesandree
Padayachee and Dr Annibale Cois represented HST on
the SANCTR Working Group to facilitate greater
alignment and interoperability between the NHRD and
the SANCTR websites. One of the major challenges of
both teams has been the lack of understanding that
researchers have about the research regulatory system in
South Africa (SA). As a response to this, HST and the MRC
intend to collaborate to demystify the complex research
approval processes by developing information and
educational material for researchers.
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• NIMART material used by the HST trainers was
updated with the support of one of the advanced
clinical care doctor) to reflect the changes in the
guidelines.
• Completion of the Central Chronic Medicines
Dispensing and Distribution E-learning programme.
• An online course in Advanced HIV and AIDS
counselling was developed.

Dr Susanna Naude
Manager: Training

GUIDANCE, MENTORING AND TRAINING ON
GOOD PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT
The Health Systems Trust Training Institute (HSTi)
implemented a number of training activities over the past
year that included:
• Adult Primary Care and Basic HIV Course for Health
Professionals (NIMART).
• HIV Testing Service (HIV Counselling and Testing) for
data capturers in KZN and for the TREATS
programme (Cape Town) took place during this
period.

• Two interns were appointed as part of the HWSETA
programme.
To continue receiving funding for training activities as
discretionary grants, the Workplace Skills Programme
(2020) and the annual training report were submitted in
April 2020.
Professional nurses were updated on Adult Primary Care
(APC) and NIMART and pharmacy nurses from the
Sparkport pharmacy group were trained on NIMART.
In addition, 46 Youth Ambassadors, community mobilisers
and data capturers from the Tuberculosis Reduction
through Expanded Anti-Retroviral Treatment and TB
Screening (TREATS) Project were trained in HIV
counselling and testing.

• Assessment of the Portfolio of Evidence (PoE’s) of the
community service nurses were completed and
submitted to the KwaZulu-Natal Regional Training
Centre (25 of the community service nurses were
employed by HST after completing their community
service year).
• The PoE’s of the skills programmes were also
completed and verification by the Health and Welfare
Sector Education and Training Authority (HWSETA)
followed.
• The unit continued with all the accreditation
requirements of the Education and Training Quality
Assurance (ETQA) bodies for compliance in the
process of accrediting HSTi with the HWSETA.
Project Achievements from July 2019–June 2020
• Accreditation with HWSETA extended to March 2023
due to arrangements with the Quality Council for
Trades and Occupations (QCTO).
• Verification of skills programmes by HWSETA
andissuing certificates of competency to these learners.
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Corporate Services Directorate

CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE
FINANCE, GRANTS AND COMPLIANCE
The Finance Unit at HST is responsible for the management of grants, donor
relations, accounting and financial management. The unit holds accountability for all
funds disbursed to the organisation, with a key focus on ethical and professional
business practices. Our mandate is to ensure that HST’s expenditure remains
congruent with all agreed deliverables.
The primary focus of the Finance team is to ensure that financial reports are
compiled and submitted timeously to senior management. These reports are used
by senior management to make informed decisions and to monitor their budgets
against their workplans. The financial management team works constantly towards
creating bespoke reports for individual funders which allows the unit to monitor
trends and analyse the financial data in line with project deliverables.
Oversight is provided by the Finance Unit in ensuring that HSTs procurement of
goods and services is always aligned to achieving value for money, whilst at the
same time taking a proactive approach to promoting the policy of Broad Based
Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE). The management of HST’s cash
resources, critical for the implementation of HSTs various projects, remains vested
within the Finance Unit.

Mr Deena Govender
Director: Corporate Services

The Grants and Compliance team maintains the highest level of integrity and
works tirelessly to ensure that no internal policies or procedures are breached.
These ethics are also applied to the numerous rules and regulations imposed by
our funders and the team ensures that these are adhered to at all times.
The team also upskills and provides guidance to the smaller sub-recipients
managed by HST. By helping them to develop suitable systems and policies within
their framework, HST can help to empower these organisations and assist them
to build capacity within their organisations.

Ms Melisha Nunkoo
Manager: Finance

With a rigorous system of internal controls, HST is pleased to have received
unqualified audit opinions from both funder-specific audits and our annual
statutory audit.

ADMINISTRATION
The Administration Unit, the engine room of the organisation, is responsible for
planning, execution and monitoring of all support services. The remit of the unit
is to establish and monitor adherence to the organisation’s policies, procedures
and systems, and to ensure that there is co-ordination between the inputs, outputs
and operations of the organisation. Apart from the implementation and
monitoring of administrative systems, the unit also co-ordinates all land and air
travel for HST staff members, provides a 24-hour support service in case of
emergencies and maintains and manages the use and upkeep of HST’s fleet of 521
vehicles. Underpinned by an ethos of continuous quality improvement, Ms Delene
King and her team of 42 staff members regularly assess and revise their standard
operating procedures to ensure that the organisation is running as efficiently as
possible and are responsive to staff needs.

Ms Delene King
Manager: Administration

In 2020 the Administration Unit played a critical supply
chain management role in ensuring that all HST offices,
and field teams were efficiently supplied with all the
required COVID-19 personal protection equipment and
that all HST offices were COVID-19 compliant enabling
HST project and clinical support activities to continue
uninterrupted from the onset of the COVID-19
pandemic.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
TECHNOLOGY
The Information Communication and Technology (ICT)
team continues to work closely with all projects within
HST to ensure that solutions are implemented to ensure
connectivity for all HST offices and support staff in the
field.

The ICT Unit strengthened its team and remote login
tools to provide remote support to all staff to ensure that
we comply with social distancing during this pandemic. We
have implemented additional security measures to our
email and virtual private network (VPN) platform to
ensure staff are not victims of any form of phishing.
HST’s network infrastructure is running optimally and the
ICT Unit will continue to investigate remote solutions and
new technologies to introduce to the network. The
COVID-19 pandemic has tested the ability of many
organisations to adjust to different working environments
and the ICT Unit was ready for the challenge.

These projects require the ICT team to be proactive in
assisting with procurement and setting up large-scale IT
equipment to meet the tight deadlines for deployment.
After planning and preparation in 2018/2019, we are
pleased to announce that the move to the new Durban
office was a huge success and went according to plan. A
new physical network was built to ensure connectivity for
all users in the office including areas for printing and
ensuring that Wi-Fi access is available to all staff who visit
the office after a work day in the field. The telephonic
voice over internet protocol (VOIP) system has been
installed and is available in all staff areas.

Deren Naicker
Manager: I.T Operations

To ensure business continuity, the ICT department
installed backup generators to ensure power is available
during load-shedding and electrical faults. Backup fibre
connectivity lines have been installed to ensure staff get
the information required during any fibre break with the
primary link. A closed-circuit television (CCTV) system
has also been installed.
The COVID-19 pandemic forced many organisations to
change their strategies to ensure there is continuity of
work and this had a huge impact within ICT. March 2020,
before the country went into a national lockdown, the ICT
department had identified and implemented protocols
and online platforms to ensure HST staff are able to
communicate and interact with their teams on a daily
basis. Online meeting platforms were introduced and staff
quickly grasped the use of the tools and used them with
ease.
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Members of the ICT team

HUMAN RESOURCES
During the year under review, the Human Resources (HR)
Unit has continued to provide support to meet the
diverse recruitment and human resource management
requirements of HST. The HR unit continued to play a
significant role in supporting HST’s employees to be the
thriving and productive team essential for its success in a
continually changing and demanding work environment.
Following the HR Unit restructuring exercise in 2019 in
response to the exponential growth in size of the
organisation experienced that year, the expanded and
restructured HR team has been able to effectively support
the continuing growth of the organisation over the past
year. This included support for the SyNCH programme
expansion to cover the 20 Siyenza districts in 2019 and
the remaining six health districts in 2020, such that this
electronic software programme covers twenty-six of the
twenty seven high burden HIV/TB districts in the country.
At the end of the financial year a further growth surge was
prepared for as HST’s support to health facilities in
eThekwini has necessitated the recruitment of an
additional 600+ staff with a co-ordinated effort across
several units in the organisation.
The COVID-19 pandemic brought significant changes to
the ways of working of the unit and organisation as a
whole and the HR Unit in collaboration with other Units
played a key role in supporting this adjustment across the
organisation. With most of its staff involved in the
provision of clinical services in health facilities, and
community-based health services HST as an essential
services provider had to prepare to support its staff to
continue service provision in a COVID-19 environment,
while at the same time adapting its operations to enable a
significant proportion of staff to work from home during
hard lockdown when this was announced at the end of
March 2020. This included working with the different units
to develop a staff risk COVID-19 profile to enable the
appropriate deployment of high risk or vulnerable staff
due to COVID-19 comorbidities or vulnerability due to
age. The majority of our office based staff had to be
supported to work from home – especially high risk
employees and those 60 years and older.
The HR participated in and supported an organisation
wide process working with all units and the COVID-19
Coordination Committee to ensure that HST workplaces
were COVID-19 compliant in terms of prevention and
risk mitigation practices and Department of Employment
and Labour health and safety regulations. The HR team has
been pleased to have played a key role in supporting our

employee safety and welfare efforts through the robust
screening and safety programme implemented throughout
the organisation. With the pandemic playing a major role in
our daily activities, business continuity has been maintained
through increased use of virtual communication channels
including recruitment activities such that COVID-19
prevention and risk-mitigation strategies are now an
integral way of working in HST .
Towards the end of the financial year in June, Mr Robert
Hendricks, HR Manager left HST after seven years of
service. This departure necessitated a reorganisation of
roles within the team to ensure uninterrupted HR support
to the organisation. The Senior HR Officer, was appointed
Acting HR Manager until a substantive replacement is
appointed. Fortunately, the current team has been in the
organisation for a number of years and the change in
management did not affect the provision of support to
various projects and a staff complement of 795 employees
and 2262 outsourced staff through various agencies.
The current Employment Equity (EE) Committee grew
and continued to provide support and input towards
implementation of the organisation’s EE plan and
addressing EE challenges and barriers.
The unit’s continued involvement in staff development and
training in conjunction with the Training Unit resulted in
various courses being offered to employees which are
closely aligned to their developmental needs, and key
priorities for the organisation. The uptake of HST’s staff
bursary programme continues to be excellent, resulting in
several staff progressing with their qualifications, with a
number successfully completing their studies.

Sanele Ngubane
Acting Manager: Human Resources
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strategies supporting people living with HIV (PLWHIV)
and active tuberculosis to support adherence to chronic
medication and safe access to essential services and
infection control measures.

Ms Natasha Chetty
Manager: Business Development
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Business development, also known as social
entrepreneurship, for a Non-governmental Organisation
(NGO) like HST is more than driving our not-for-profit
goals and objectives. To ensure sustainability and continue
to make an impact in the health systems we support, we
need to continue to passionately pursue both health
equity and revenue-generation activities. In the highly
competitive environment in which we operate, business
development is an extremely important function which
requires intensive and dedicated attention to support
organisational sustainability and growth, as well as to
nurture relationships between partners, donors, clients,
staff, experts and service providers.
Through the support and commitment of our funders and
the effective collaboration of our business development,
technical and corporate services teams, our proposal
development and programme implementation efforts
resulted in HST currently managing a project portfolio in
excess of R1 billion. Our strength lies in our ability to
manage projects along the funding continuum, from large
scale multi-year projects to more short-term high impact
interventions. Over the past twelve months, the Business
Development Unit has continued to provide core support
to the organisation in identifying funding opportunities, as
well as leading and executing responses to these.
Identification of opportunities over the past months has
seen a logical shift of funding toward addressing
COVID-19 with various funders rapidly changing focus or
adapting their strategies toward addressing this global
crisis. For example, HST funders, The U.S President’s
Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) and the U.S
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
swiftly supported our SA SURE Plus project to adjust our
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HST acknowledges that partnerships and collaborations
are key drivers to effect change due to the complexity of
the health systems we support and the
interconnectedness of sustainability issues. HST’s business
development activities therefore embrace relevant
expertise and innovations to support our work.
Partnership and collaboration trends among the donor
community have also seen a sharp rise supporting
increased co-ordination and layering of activities for
greater impact and optimised use of resources. An
excellent example of this is the collaboration between
PEPFAR/CDC and ELMA Philanthropies supporting
paediatric child and youth support and services for HIV
and TB in KwaZulu-Natal. There has also been an increase
in collaborative platforms and think-tanks to facilitate
multi-stakeholder input (including civil society and
beneficiaries) to address key health challenges through
various approaches including research and evidence
generation to inform policy development, programme
implementation and service provision. HST is an advocate
for this approach and in the past year was pleased to have
had the opportunity to work in a collaborative effort with
Johnson & Johnson (J&J) Global Community Impact and
the National Department of Health to host a community
health co-creation workshop whose aim was to generate
ideas and potential approaches that may feed into
strengthening the role of community health workers in the
health system.
The funding landscape is constantly evolving and currently
one of the trends globally has been toward generating
data science solutions for complex and urgent health
challenges. There have been significant advances in data
science in recent years and funders are recognising that
investment in this area will spur new health discoveries
and catalyse innovation in health care, public health and
health research on the continent. This will be realised by
linking a wide range of sectors and expertise such as the
private, government, social and civil society to bring the
tools, skills and insight to address key health challenges.
HST is responding to this trend and is actively pursuing
funding opportunities and partnerships in this area.

result of hearing about the service via campaign
information.
HST’s CU also supported the various directorates and
programmes by actively profiling their work via
www.hst.org.za and various social media platforms
(Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, the HST blog). In February
2020 we supported another well-received launch of the
District Health Barometer and South African Health Review.

Ms Antoinette Stafford Cloete
Manager: Communications
COMMUNICATIONS
The 2019/20 financial year continued to see an increase
with regards to support from the Communications Unit
(CU) to HST colleagues, the National Department of
Health and various provincial departments of health.
Apart from the usual requests for assistance with
branding and editing we also saw an uptick in terms of
solidifying and growing relationships with funder-related
entities such as the MAG Consortium, a body set up for
the communication leads of District Support Partners to
align communications’ efforts when it comes to the
National Department of Health as well as PEPFAR, the
CDC and USAID. This arrangement has led to more
synergised messaging and branding and ongoing and
sustained efforts to work in concert to grow awareness
on issues such as chronic medication, increasing its uptake
and growing the numbers of those stable on treatment.
A project directly related to this area of work was the
continuation of the Get checked. Go collect campaign. Get
checked. Go collect phase 1 focused on demand-creation
for Central Chronic Medicines Dispensing and Distribution
services in eThekwini, KZN. The Communications Unit
worked with Grounded Media to develop an end-to-end
communications campaign which included out-of-home,
digital media and branding of mobile vehicles. With the
permission of the funder, the CDC, we embarked on an
online-only campaign in June 2020 necessitated by
COVID-19 restrictions. The target for reach which was set
at 1 000 000 people reached with information was
overshot by more than 500 000. Whatsapp surveys
showed encouraging data in terms of awareness of
CCMDD (now dubbed DablapMeds) and this could be
correlated with people signed up at facilities as a direct

Naomi Massyn, DHB Editor receiving her DHB-SAHR goodie bag from
Lebohang Dikobe, HST Communications Graphic Designer and Layout
Artist at the 25 February 2020 launch

The CU continued supporting the Grand Challenges
Canada-funded Hypertensive Disorders in Pregnancy
Study by activating a web page which acts as a content
repository for key information and updates on
https://www.hst.org.za/publications/GCCStars. The CU
manager also participated in a workshop on the topic at
the annual Society of Midwives of South Africa (SOMSA)
conference held at the University of Pretoria in August
2019.
The CU prioritised its internal communications and
utilised a number of channels to create awareness for staff
on the status of projects encouraging them to act as
brand ambassadors, but also to share what they are doing
thus closing the communication loop.
We have continued to share updates on academic and
peer-reviewed articles in the public health space as well as
the latest on news, conferences and webinars via
60percent and the HST Bulletin which currently reflects
registered numbers on our DevMan database of more
than 1600 active subscribers.
With the COVID-19 pandemic unfolding during this
reporting period the CU had to step in and be responsive
in terms of supporting the NDoH as well as funders with
increased information dissemination off its platforms to
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create awareness on the disease, mitigation and rolling
updates on other relevant content. To this end we created
a content repository https://www.hst.org.za/Covid19
where people can access archived and current
information emanating from SA governmental sources to
the WHO, CDC and major news outlets.
HST’s CU rendered support to the NDoH during
2019/20 by doing the layout and related rolling updates
for its PHC Registers – a critical job that played a major
role in training and capturing of data.. We also supported
an information week held by the Eastern Cape DoH by
supplying them with CCMDD-related content
customised for their use. During the lockdown period we
were asked to create awareness and to market the
North-West DoH self-testing App. To date more than 10
000 HST web users have seen this web banner and the
social media exposure for this item continues to show a
similar trend

The North-West Department of Health is rolling out a campaign to its people in the province
encouraging them to self-screen for Covid-19. Please access the tool via this link: www.nwcovid19.org.za
Please note that you will not be asked to LOGIN.
Healthcare Workers will be using that space for record-keeping purposes.
For further information please go to their website: http://health.nwpg.gov.za

Overall the web and social media data continues to grow.

1
2019/20 73 000 users up from
54 000 for 2018/19

2
followers increased from
4571 to 6808

3

we gained 498 new followers
increasing our total number of
followers for the reporting
period to 3098

We ascribe this growth to sustained efforts to maximise
the organisation as a brand and to sharing relevant and
up-to-date information.
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The COVID-19 pandemic created many challenges but
also further opportunities for the HST Communications
Unit to work more closely with colleagues in a
cross-functional manner and we played a key role in the
co-ordination, quality management and dissemination of
key documents and collateral required for compliance
purposes.
The organisation’s CU adopts a developmental approach
to health information provision and will continue to
amplify, using all relevant media, the good work that is
being done to strengthen the health system and to change
lives for the better.

CONCLUSION
The Health Systems Trust, like most organisations globally,
has spent a significant part of the past year navigating the
new terrain of adjusting ways of working to ensure
business continuity in the face of the COVID-19
pandemic.
Over the past year HST has successfully implemented 15
projects in a portfolio of about R1 billion that includes
service delivery and technical support to the national HIV
and TB responses, health information and systems support
to chronic medicines dispensing and distribution systems
in 26 health districts, which through a national
multi-stakeholder effort provides access to 3 635 858
patients, exceeding the national target at the time of
writing of this report. Projects successfully implemented in
the current year include eight research projects under
HST’s health systems research portfolio which include
publication of the 14th edition of the District Health
Barometer with its accompanying District Health Profiles
and the 22nd edition of the South African Health Review
which focused on the key challenges in implementing
National Health Insurance and Universal Health Coverage
in South Africa.
As a technical organisation that provides health systems
strengthening, technical and service delivery support to
priority health programmes we had to rapidly assess the
likely impact of COVID-19 on our teams working in
clinical service delivery and public health research in the
field, as well as our technical and support function teams in
office settings. Monitoring developments in the pandemic
globally before it arrived on South Africa’s shores and the
time between the first case in the country and hard
lockdown proved critical to our preparedness.
Early establishment of the procurement and supply chain
systems for personal protective equipment for staff in line
with their work environments and risks were important
investments. Providing regular and up-to-date information
to our teams, and ensuring compliance with national
regulations and national and global preventive and risk
mitigation strategies proved critical to our being able to
ensure continued service provision and a safe working
environment in a challenging situation with naturally
heightened staff concerns. Important achievements in the
year were: being able to provide support to the national
COVID-19 response in a number of areas, while ensuring
the continuation of service delivery and access for HIV
and TB services; at national level staff based at the National
Department of Health supported specific committees and
information technology staff supported the work of the
national data management centre while at provincial and
district level HST staff supported screening, contact

tracing and testing efforts in KwaZulu-Natal as well as
clinical service delivery in the four districts where HST is a
district support partner.
One of the impacts of COVID-19 was a significant reduction in patient attendance at health facilities, particularly
for HIV and TB patients in some cases by as much as 50 to
60%. Working with the district health teams we were able
to implement innovative approaches to ensure continued
patient access to care which enabled recovery of some of
the initial ground lost in pursuit of South Africa’s 90-90-90
targets to be regained in HST supported districts in
KwaZulu-Natal.
The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the disparities in
South Africa’s health system and society, with the greatest
economic hardships being experienced by the poor and
most vulnerable in society. These were also the areas
where social distancing in housing and transport were
most difficult – putting these communities at greater risk.
This has highlighted the importance of the pursuit of
greater UHC and greater equity in access to health
services – which will be a key priority to HST’s work and
South Africa’s health system in the post- COVID world as
we work to reset the health system to be stronger and
after post this pandemic and in preparation for pandemics
in the future.
In the coming year we look forward to completing and
achieving the objectives of our current 5-year grant on
“Strengthening local capacity to provide sustainable HIV-,
TB- and MCWH-related care and treatment services in
South Africa under PEPFAR (SA SURE Plus) and the
Tuberculosis Reduction through Expanded Anti-retroviral
Treatment and Screening study in the Western Cape
which respectively are supporting efforts to reach the
90-90-90 targets and achieve epidemic control of HIV and
TB in South Africa and demonstrate the impact of
community level HIV interventions on TB transmission in
high burden communities.
We also look forward to following up and taking forward
the work of our policy-focused health systems research
studies as guided by the needs of the National
Department of Health as we continue to support national
efforts towards NHI implementation and achieving
national universal health coverage objectives.
HST is able to do its work with the expertise of its many
skilled staff, strategic partnerships and the continued and
valued support of its funders.
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT

PREPARATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
for the year ended 30 June 2020

The annual financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with and comply with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized
entities and the requirements of the Trust Deed by M
Nunkoo, Finance Manager.

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the preparation
of the annual financial statements of the Trust for Health
Systems Planning and Development (“HST”). The annual
financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with and comply with the International Financial
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized entities
(IFRS for SMEs) and the requirements of the Trust Deed,
including accounting policies as set out on pages 65 to 67.
The Board of Trustees is also responsible for ensuring that
proper systems of internal control are employed by or on
behalf of the Trust. These controls are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the
reliability of the annual financial statements and to
adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability
for assets, to record liabilities, and to prevent and detect
material misstatement and loss. The systems are
implemented and monitored by suitably trained
personnel with an appropriate segregation of authority
and duties. Nothing has come to the attention of the
Board of Trustees to indicate that any material breakdown
in the functioning of these controls, procedures and
systems has occurred during the year under review.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis, as the Board of Trustees has no
reason to believe that the Trust will not be a going
concern in the foreseeable future based on reserves
forecasts, available cash resources, and on the assumption
that the Trust will continue to receive sufficient donor
funding to meet its financial obligations.
The annual financial statements have been audited by the
independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who
were given unrestricted access to all financial records and
related data, including minutes of all meetings of
members, the Board of Trustees and committees of the
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees believes that all
representations made to the independent auditors
during their audit were valid and appropriate. The
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. audit report is presented
on pages 57 to 58.
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APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
The annual financial statements set out on pages 52 to 75
and the supplementary information set out on pages 76
to 80 were approved by the Board of Trustees on 23
October 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Dumani Kula
Chairperson

TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2020
The Audit and Risk Committee is a sub-committee of the
Board of Trustees, consisting of a combination of
independent external members and Trustees. The
following were members of the Committee during the
2020 financial year:
MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
• Mr J Deodutt (Chairperson, External member)
• Mr E A Moolla (External member)
• Dr F Senkubuge (Trustee)
• Ms E Skweyiya (Trustee)
The Committee is satisfied that its members have the
required mix of skills, knowledge and experience in order
to adequately discharge its duties detailed in the terms of
reference contained within the Audit and Risk Committee
Charter and the principles of good governance embodied
within the King IV Code on Corporate Governance.
Members of the Committee possess an adequate mix of
critical skills to ensure the proper functioning of the
Committee. These skills include financial, legal, technical
and public health skills relevant to the business of the
Trust.

extent of the scope of audit work required.
The Committee approved the risk-based internal audit
plan for the 2020 financial year and monitored its
execution throughout the year. The Committee satisfied
itself of the independence of the internal auditor, SNG
Grant Thornton.
EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF THE FINANCE
FUNCTION
The Committee assessed the competence of the Trust’s
Finance function and is satisfied that the necessary
resources are available, and that staff are experienced and
competent.
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Committee has reviewed the annual financial
statements with management, and the Chairman of the
Committee has met with the external audit partner,
without management being present. The materiality level
for the external audit was disclosed in confidence to the
Committee and only disclosed to management after the
audit was concluded. Following its review of the Trust’s
annual financial statements, the Committee recommends
them to the Board of Trustees for adoption.

MEETINGS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee performs the duties
detailed within its terms of reference within the Audit and
Risk Committee Charter, subject to annual review, and
holds quarterly meetings with key role players including
management as well as the external and internal auditors.
The auditors have unrestricted access to the Chairman of
the Committee. Three scheduled meetings were held
during the 2020 financial year with 75% of Committee
members attending each meeting.

J Deodutt
Chairman: Audit and Risk Committee
Date: 23 October 2020

EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The Committee approved the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the independent external
auditor. The Committee has satisfied itself through inquiry
that the external auditor is independent, considering the
nature and extent of non-audit services to be rendered to
the Trust. The audit fee was approved by the Audit and Risk
Committee taking into account the nature, timing and
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Attendees

TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT

18/10/2019 17/04/2020 19/06/2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Mr A Kader (Deputy Chairperson)







Prof E Kibuka-Sebitosi







The Trust for Health Systems Planning and Development
(“HST”) confirms its commitment to the principles of
openness, integrity and accountability as advocated in the
King IV Code on Corporate Governance. Through this
process stakeholders may derive assurance that the Trust is
being ethically managed according to prudently
determined risk parameters in compliance with generally
accepted corporate practices. Monitoring the Trust’s
compliance with the King Code on Corporate Governance
where practical, forms part of the mandate of the Trust’s
Audit and Risk Committee. The Trust has complied with
the Code, relative to HST’s business during the year under
review.

Ms M Hela







Dr D Kula







Dr S Mapetla (Deputy Chairperson)







Mr T Masilela

X



-

Ms F Nzama-Rabeng







Dr F Senkubuge (Chairperson)







Ms E Skweyiya



_

_

_

_

Prof Salome Masiwime

_

_



Ms Lerato Matsau

_

_



BOARD OF TRUSTEES

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

Responsibilities

To assist the Board in discharging its collective responsibility
for corporate governance, several committees have been
established, to which certain of the Board’s responsibilities
have been delegated. These committees operate with
written terms of reference and comprise, in the main,
non-executive Trustees. The chairperson of each committee
is a non-executive Trustee with the exception of the Audit
and Risk Committee who is an independent external
member. The following Committees play a critical role to
the governance of the Trust:

The Board of Trustees (“the Board”) was established on
the basis of a legal Deed of Trust document, supplemented by
a formally approved written charter. Its composition is
balanced so that no individual or small group dominates
decision-making. The Board meets regularly and is responsible
for oversight and ensuring proper accountability by the
Executive Management. The Executive Management attends
the Board meetings by invitation.
The roles of Committee chairpersons and executives do
not vest in the same persons and the chairpersons are
non-executive Trustees. The chairpersons and chief
executive provide leadership and guidance to the Trust
and encourages proper deliberation on all matters
requiring the Board’s attention, and they obtain optimum
input from the other Trustees. New appointments to the
Board are submitted to the Board as a whole for approval
prior to appointment.
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the management
and strategic direction of the Trust, as well as for attending
to legislative, regulatory, and best practice requirements.
Accountability to stakeholders remains paramount in
Board decisions, and this is balanced against the demands
of the regulatory environment in which the Trust operates,
and the concerns of its other stakeholders.
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Prof Willem Fourie



AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is to assist the
Board by performing an objective and independent review
of the functioning of the organisation’s finance and
accounting control mechanisms and risk management
framework. It exercises its functions through close liaison
and communication with executive management and the
internal and external auditors. The committee met three
times during the 2020 financial year.
The Audit and Risk Committee operates in accordance with
a written charter authorised by the Board, and provides
assistance to the Board with regard to:
• Ensuring compliance with applicable legislation and the
requirements of regulatory authorities;

• Matters relating to financial accounting, accounting
policies, reporting and disclosure;

The Personnel Committee consists of the following
members:

• Internal and external audit policy;

Attendees

• Activities, scope, adequacy, and effectiveness of the
internal audit function and audit plans;
• Review/approval of external audit plans, findings,
problems, reports, and fees;
• Compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and
Conduct;
• Review of ethics policies; and
• Risk assessment.
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of the following
non-executive members:
Attendees
18/09/2019 19/02/2020 20/05/2020

Mr J Deodutt
(Chairperson, External member)







Mr E A Moola (External member)

X





Dr F Senkubuge (Trustee)

X





Mrs E Skweyiya (Trustee)



_

_

The Audit and Risk Committee addressed its
responsibilities properly in terms of the charter during the
2020 annual financial year. No changes to the charter
were adopted during the 2020 financial year.
Management has reviewed the annual financial statements
with the Audit and Risk Committee, and the Audit and Risk
Committee has reviewed them without management or
the external auditors being present. The quality of the
accounting policies was discussed with the external
auditors.
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE
The Personnel Committee advises the Board on human
resources and other personnel related policies including
remuneration packages, and other terms of employment
for senior executives. Its specific terms of reference also
include recommendations to the Board on matters
relating, inter alia, to executive remuneration, Trustees
honorariums and fees and service contracts. Whenever
necessary, the committee is advised by independent
professional advisors. The committee met three times
during the 2020 financial year.

19/09/2019 20/02/2020 21/05/2020

Mr A Kader (Chairperson,Trustee)







Mr S Mapetla (Trustee)

X





Ms L Matsau (External member)

X





FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Finance Committee operates in accordance with a
written charter authorised by the Board, and provides
assistance to the Board in the overall management of the
financial affairs in a manner that will ensure generally
accepted reporting, transparency and effective use of the
Trust’s resources, and to periodically review, evaluate and
report on the financial affairs of the Trust.
The Finance Committee consists of the following Trustees:
Attendees
19/09/2019 20/02/2020 21/05/2020

Mr A Kader (Chairperson,Trustee)







Dr D Kula (Trustee)

X

X



Mr S Mapetla (Trustee)

X





Governance Committee
The Governance Committee operates in accordance with a
written charter authorised by the Board, and provides
assistance to the Board in the overall governance of the
organisation in a manner that will ensure that best practice
is exercised.
The Governance Committee consists of the following
Trustees:
Attendees
17/09/2019 18/02/2020 19/05/2020

Mr T Masilela (Chairperson,Trustee)





_

Ms Z Nzama-Rabeng





X

Ms M Hela
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Being involved with the day-to-day business activities of
the Trust, these officers are responsible for ensuring that
decisions, strategies, and views of the Board are
implemented.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Effective risk management is integral to the Trust’s
objective of consistently adding value to the business.
Management is continuously developing and enhancing its
risk and control procedures to improve the mechanisms
for identifying and monitoring risks.
Operating risk refers to the potential for loss to occur due
to a breakdown in control information, business processes,
and compliance systems. Key policies and procedures
which are in place to manage operating risk involve
segregation of duties, transactions authorisation,
supervision, monitoring, and financial and managerial
reporting.
To meet its responsibility with respect to providing reliable
financial information, the Trust and its divisions maintain
financial and operational systems of internal control. These
controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are concluded in accordance with
management’s authority, that the assets are adequately
protected against material loss or unauthorised
acquisition, use, or disposal, and that transactions are
properly authorised and recorded.
The system includes a documented organisational
structure and division of responsibility, established policies,
and procedures, including a Code of Ethics to foster a
strong ethical climate, which is communicated throughout
the Trust. It also includes the careful selection, training, and
development of people.
Internal auditors monitor the operation of the internal
control system and report findings and recommendations
to management and the Board of Trustees. Corrective
actions are taken to address control deficiencies and other
opportunities for improving the system as they are
identified. The Board, operating through its Audit and Risk
Committee, provides supervision of the financial
reporting process and internal control system.
The Trust assessed its internal control system as at 30 June
2020 in relation to the criteria for effective internal
control over financial reporting. The internal control
process has been in place up to the date of approval of
the annual report and annual financial statements. The
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Trust believes that its system of internal control over
financial reporting and safeguarding of assets against
unauthorised acquisitions, use, or disposition, met those
criteria.
INTERNAL AUDIT
SNG Grant Thornton served as internal auditors for the
financial year. Their findings have been received by
management and appropriate measures have been
implemented to address the areas of improvement noted.
ETHICAL STANDARDS
The Trust has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code),
which has been fully endorsed by the Board and applies to
all Trustees and employees. The Code is regularly
reviewed and updated to ensure it reflects the highest
standards of behaviour and professionalism.
In summary, the Code requires that, at all times, all Trust
personnel act with the utmost integrity and objectivity
and in compliance with the letter and the spirit of both
the law and Trust policies. Failure by employees to act in
terms of the Code results in disciplinary action.
The Code is discussed with each new employee as part of
his or her induction training, and all employees are asked
to sign an annual declaration confirming their compliance
with the Code. A copy of the Code is available to
interested parties upon request.
ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING
The Board places strong emphasis on achieving the
highest level of financial management, accounting, and
reporting to stakeholders. The Board is committed to
compliance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities. In this
regard, Trustees shoulder responsibility for preparing
financial statements that fairly present:
• The state of affairs as at the end of the financial year
under review;
• Surplus or deficit for the period;
• Cash flows for the period; and
• Non-financial information.
The external auditors observe the highest level of
business and professional ethics and their independence is
not impaired in any way.
The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all
financial records and related data, including minutes of all

meetings of Trustees, the Board of Trustees, and
committees of the Board. The Trustees believe that all
representations made to the independent auditors during
their audit are valid and appropriate.
The external auditors provide an independent assessment
of systems of internal financial control to the extent
necessary for the audit, and express an independent
opinion on whether the financial statements are fairly
presented. The external audit function offers reasonable,
but not absolute assurance, as to the accuracy of financial
disclosures.
The Audit and Risk Committee set principles that were
considered and accepted by the stakeholders for using
external auditors for non-audit services.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Trust for Health Systems Planning and
Development
OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Trust for Health
and Systems Planning and Development (the Trust) as at
30 June 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and
Medium-sized Entities.
What we have audited
Trust for Health and Systems Planning and Development’s
financial statements set out on pages 60 to 74 comprise:
• the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020;
• the statement of profit and loss and comprehensive
income for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
INDEPENDENCE
We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA
Code) and other independence requirements applicable
to performing audits of financial statements in South
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits
in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the
corresponding sections of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
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Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards).
OTHER INFORMATION
The trustees are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information
included in the documents titled “Trust For Health
Systems Planning and Development Audited Annual
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2020”.
The other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial statements
The trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities and for such internal
control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are
responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate
the Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

financial statements represent the underltransactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the trustees regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Trust’s internal control.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: Bhimchand Soorajdin
Registered Auditor
Block C, 21 Cascades Crescent
Cascades
Pietermaritzburg
3201
Date: 26 October 2020

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the trustees.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to
continue as a going concern. Evaluate the overall
presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
for the year ended 30 June 2020
The Board of Trustees presents their annual report for
Trust for Health Systems Planning and Development for
the year ended 30 June 2020.
1. General review
The Trust for Health Systems Planning and Development
(“HST”) is a dynamic independent non-government
organization that actively supports the current and future
development of a comprehensive health care system,
through strategies designed to promote equity and
efficiency in health and health care delivery in Southern
Africa.
Goals:
• Facilitate and evaluate district health systems
development;
• Define priorities and commission research to foster
health systems development;
• Build South African capacity for health systems
research, planning, development and evaluation;
• Actively disseminate information about health systems
research, planning, development and evaluation; and
• Encourage the use of lessons learnt from work
supported by the Trust.
2. Financial results
2.1. Full details of the financial results are set out on pages
59 to 74 in the attached annual financial statements.
2.2. As set out in the annual financial statements, the Trust
had a total surplus for the year of R2 122 922 (2019:
surplus of R31 244 706).
2.3. The ratio of administration expenses (excluding the
unusual and extraordinary items), against gross
income is 7% (2019: 6%) which is in line with the
prescribed limit as set out in the Trust deed.
2.4. Please note that the following abbreviations have
been included in the annual report:
HST: Health Systems Trust
HSS: Health Systems Strengthening
HSR: Health Systems Research
CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
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3. Trustees
Trustees serve on a voluntary basis and are not
remunerated for their services.
The Trustees of the Trust during the financial year and at
the date of the report are:
Name

Date appointed

Ms M Hela

1 May 2017

Mr A Kader

15 July 2014

Prof E Kibuka-Sebitosi 4 August 2014
Dr D Kula

15 May 2017

Mr S Mapetla

20 December 2017

Mr T Masilela

23 April 2014

Date resigned/
tenure ended
31 July 2020
14 June 2020

30 April 2020

Ms F Nzama - Rabeng 24 August 2015
Prof D Sanders

7 June 2017

31 August 2019

Dr F Senkubuge

22 July 2014

31 July 2020

Ms E Skweyiya

18 October 2013

31 October 2019

Mr L Deodutt

25 June 2020

Dr S Maswime

26 April 2020

Ms G Harie

28 June 2020

Ms L Matsau

28 May 2020

Prof Willem Fourie

28 April 2020

4. Material events after year end
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation
(“WHO”) declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The South
African government curtailed business activities in an
attempt to reduce the spread of COVID-19. The trust
remains cautious and continues to evaluate the impact of
COVID-19 on its business. This event has been dealt with in
more detail in note 14 of the financial statements.
Other than the above, the trustees are not aware of any
matters or circumstances which are material to the financial
affairs of the Trust that have occurred between year end
and the date of approval of the annual financial statements.
5. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the
basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance
future operations and that the realisation of assets and
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of activities
of the Trust.

TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
as at 30 June 2020
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes

2020
R

2019
R

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

146 885 391
146 885 391

39 870 568
39 870 568

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Accrued revenue

8
9
3

193 835 188
26 045 890
157 677 213
10 112 085

189 870 226
25 328 214
138 874 164
25 667 848

340 720 579

229 740 794

127 031 621

124 908 699

213 688 958
43 286 880
302 255
170 099 823

104 832 095
71 330 215
10 256 244
23 245 636

340 720 579

229 740 794

Total assets

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus funds
and reserves
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Deferred revenue
Total equity and liabilities

10
11
3
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
as at 30 June 2020
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes

2020
R

2019
R

Grant income

3

1 048 660 475

727 400 249

Other income

4

4 798 791

12 999 990

(985 546 864)

(670 796 465)

(71 519 601)

(45 328 036)

(3 607 199)

24 275 738

5 730 121

6 968 968

2 122 922

31 244 706

-

-

2 122 922

31 244 706

-

-

2 122 922

31 244 706

Project expenses
Administration expenses
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE INTEREST 4
Interest received

5

SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION
Taxation

6

NET SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION
Other comprehensive income
TOTAL SURPLUS AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
as at 30 June 2020
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HST
Reserve
Fund
R

Total Equity
R

HSS
R

HSR
R

CDC
R

Corporate
Services
R

5 048 908

4 713 629

11 062 009

36 901 734

35 937 713

93 663 993

Total surplus/(deficit) and
comprehensive income
(loss) for the year
4 821 655

7 033 355

(3 160 975)

22 550 671

-

31 244 706

Transfers to Reserve
Fund

(1 091 956)

(508 755)

-

(1 426 652)

3 027 363

Closing balance as at
30 June 2019

8 778 607

11 238 229

7 901 034

58 025 753

38 965 076

124 908 699

146 527

1 926 284

(4 701 236)

4 751 347

-

2 122 922

-

(438 414)

-

(2 633 865)

3 072 279

-

8 925 134

12 726 099

3 199 798

60 143 235

42 037 355

127 031 621

Closing balance as at
30 June 2018

Total surplus and
comprehensive income
/ (loss) for the year
Transfers to Reserve
Fund
Closing balance as
at 30 June 2020

TOTAL EQUITY COMPRISES THE FOLLOWING:
Accumulated Surplus Funds
HST Reserve Fund

-

2020
R

2019
R

84 994 266
42 037 355

85 943 623
38 965 076

127 031 621

124 908 699
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
as at 30 June 2020
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Notes

2020
R

2019
R

152 666 772
5 730 121

29 844 818
6 968 968

158 396 893

36 813 786

6 600 262
(146 312 539)

1 965 764
(27 541 641)

(139 712 277)

(25 575 877)

18 684 615

11 237 909

118 432

395 247

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations
Interest received

A
5

Net cash inflow from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, and equipment
Acquisition of property and equipment

7

Net cash used in investing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Unrealised gains within cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

9

138 874 164

127 241 008

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

9

157 677 212

138 874 164
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
as at 30 June 2020
NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2020
R

2019
R

2 122 922

31 244 706

34 881 602
(118 432)
(9 953 989)
(2 184 149)
(5 730 121)
19 017 833

10 893 063
(395 247)
292 118
(602 795)
(6 968 968)
34 462 877

A. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS BEFORE
TAXATION TO CASH GENERATED
FROM OPERATIONS
Surplus before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Gain on translation of foreign bank account
decrease in provisions
Profit on Disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest received

Cash inflows from operations before
working capital changes
Working capital changes:

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and
other receivables and accrued revenue
Increase in trade and other payables
and deferred revenue

Cash generated from operations

14 838 087 (19 783 265)
118 810 852

15 165 206

152 666 772

29 844 818
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TRUST FOR HEALTH SYSTEMS PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘project and administration expenses’ in
the statement of comprehensive income.
1.3. Impairment of non-financial assets

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
1.1. Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with and comply with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized
Entities (IFRS for SME’s). The presentation currency of the
annual financial statements is the South African Rand
(ZAR). The accounting policies noted below are consistent
with those of the prior year.
1.2. Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for
their intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated lives as follows:
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings

4 years
4 years
6 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial
position date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (refer note
1.3).
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Property, plant and equipment and other non-current
assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows.
1.4. Financial instruments
Financial instruments recognized on the statement of
financial position include cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables and trade and other payables.
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which is
the fair value of the consideration given or received
including transaction costs when the entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
any subsequent measurement adjustments are made in
accordance with the specific instrument related provisions
of sections 11 and 12 of IFRS for SMEs. The financial
instruments of the Trust consist primarily of deposits with
the Trust's bankers, trade receivables and trade payables.
The notes for cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables
and trade payables should be referred to below for the
measurement basis of each.
1.5. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the Trust will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at

the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Funds granted to approved projects are expensed as and
when payments are made, even if projects are of an
ongoing nature.

1.6. Cash and cash equivalents

1.9. Revenue recognition

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand
deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Income from donations and grants, including capital grants,
shall be recognised as income over the periods necessary
to match them with the related costs which they are
intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.

1.7. Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at the transaction
price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
a) Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:
• the entity has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset and either:
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or

Income from donations and grants, including capital grants,
is not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that
the Trust will comply with the conditions attaching to it,
and that the grant will be received.
Donations and grants, including capital grants that are
awarded for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support rather than as an incentive to undertake specific
expenditures are recognised as income in the period in
which the Trust qualifies to receive it.
Donations and grants, including capital grants, that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred shall be recognised as income of the period in
which it becomes receivable.

b) Financial liabilities

A matching portion of grant revenue is deferred as it
relates to the purchase of capital assets that meet the
criteria for capitalisation. Grant revenue is recognised to
match the depreciation of the purchased assets that are
capitalised to ensure that the grant revenue relating to the
assets are matched to the related cost of the assets over
time.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Income from sale of publications is included in other
income.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Other revenue earned by the Trust is recognised on the
following basis:

(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

c) Impairment of financial assets
The company assesses at each reporting date whether a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
1.8. Funded projects

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss, using the
effective interest rate method.
Training income is recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.
1.10. Other income
The company generates incidental income through
non-core activities. Other income is measured at fair value
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of the consideration received or receivable and is
recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transactions will flow to the company
and the amount can reliably be measured.
1.11. Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue is a liability related to grant revenue for
which revenue has not yet been recognized. The entity
records deferred revenue when it receives consideration
from a donor before incurring any costs or completing the
service to which the consideration relates. As the costs
are incurred and the conditions of the grant are
completed revenue is recognised.
1.12. Provisions
Provisions are measured at the best estimate (including
risks and uncertainties) of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation, and reflects the present value
of expenditures required to settle the obligation where
the time value of money is material. Employee
entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and
long-service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the statement of financial position date.
Entitlements are measured with reference to the number
of day’s accrued leave for each employee (capped at a
maximum of twenty-one days in accordance with
organizational policy) and multiplied by the current
remuneration per day per employee. A provision is also
made for the amount accruing to employees who elect to
spread their remuneration over thirteen months, instead
of the customary twelve months pay period, in order to
receive a greater portion of their remuneration at the end
of the calendar year. There is a measure of uncertainty
regarding the timing of cash flows relating to leave pay
provisions as it relates to an employee’s length of service
and is either utilized during their tenure at the organization
or paid out in cash when their services are terminated.
1.13. Reserves
The different classes of reserves included on the
Statement of Changes in Equity include accumulated
surplus, being the net cumulative surplus or deficit of the
entity over the years it has operated, as well as the HST
Reserve Fund, approved by the Board of Trustees, and
designated for the sustainability of the organization. Being
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mindful of the fact that HST operates in a very
competitive environment, the Board of Trustees approved
the creation of a Reserve Fund for the sustainability of the
organization. The Reserve Fund may be utilized by
approval from the Board of Trustees and has designated
components for meeting the organization’s contractual
obligations in the event of funded contracts coming to an
end, for bridging finance when the organization is between
projects as well as sustainability.
2. LEASED ASSETS
Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of
ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease. When an operating
lease is terminated before the lease period has expired,
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of
penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the termination takes place.
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14 491 607
2 984 083
1 430 479
13 073 392
(956 741)

(3 118 738)
(527 060)
(7 698 310)
-

20 771 702
(956 741)

The ELMA Foundation

The Global Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 2 398 381

-

(956 741)

20 771 702

1 430 479

2 398 381

17 610 345

66 274 682 1 089 799 771 2 398 381 1 194 300 310

-

-

-

-

17 188 584

8 588 295 (168 375 797) 1 034 512 808

-

-

-

1 112 762

-

418 126

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the government grants that have not been
recognized in revenue. There are no other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefitted.

*Negative values are due to the reversal of prior year accrued income

35 827 476

1 430 479

-

421 761

14 160 275

14 093 907

-

(484 494)

-

24 377 311

103 064 (22 931 112)

47 205 359

-

-

47 205 359

-

1 981 235

(356 328)

456 824

1 880 739

-

-

Total
R

1 880 739

Deferred
revenue
R

-

Accrued
revenue
R

963 037 535

Total
R
6 497 519 (133 259 755)

Corporate
Services
R
- 1 089 799 771

CDC
R
- 1 089 799 771

HSR
R
-

14 160 275

HSS
R

Road Accident Fund

Massachusetts General Hospital

KZN Dept. of Health

Health Information Systems Program (HISP)

European & Developing Countries
Clinical Trials Partnership Association (EDCTP)

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (3IE)

Centre for Disease Control (CDC)

Grant income for the year ended 30 June 2020

3. GRANT INCOME
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-

Ragon Institute

The Cabot Foundation

1 090 980
5 203 123
(256 090)
228 501
24 471
388 921
5 177 090
301 988
-

(151 079)
(788 056)
(784 891)

67 920
64 202
966 630
268 700

1 090 980
5 135 203
(320 292)
228 501
175 550
388 921
4 998 516
301 988
516 191

1 090 980
5 637 475
4 998 516
301 988
(147 484)

(19 575)

-

-

-

14 279 856 1 208 648 213 10 112 085 (170 099 823) 1 048 660 475

1 988 683
-

Total
R

156 338

Deferred
revenue
R

1 832 345

Accrued
revenue
R

-

-

67 272 617 1 089 780 196

433 464

-

-

388 921

175 550

-

-

-

-

-

Total
R

8 588 295 (168 375 797) 1 034 512 808

Corporate
Services
R
2 398 381 1 194 300 310

CDC
R

66 274 682 1 089 799 771

HSR
R

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the government grants that have not been
recognized in revenue. There are no other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefitted.

*Negative values are due to the reversal of prior year accrued income

37 315 544

249 786

-

UNICEF

Accrued interest/other income

-

The Heart & Stroke Foundation

228 501

(320 292)

Grand Challenges Canada

Johnson & Johnson

(502 272)

Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation

-

1 832 345

The University of Cape Town (UCT)

Gilead Sciences, Inc.

35 827 476

Balance carried forward

HSS
R

Grant income for the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

3. GRANT INCOME
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-

-

51 588 789

(116 459)

-

-

-

-

1 951 564

-

-

-

12 504 406

-

37 249 277

HSR
R

4 253 974
23 686 521
9 326 021
13 252 110
2 072 065
1 326 811
12 327 519
43 340 152
16 210 901
7 891 022
2 137 262
1 360 774
727 400 249

(13 562 756)
(2 411 345)
(449 827)
(918 029)
(5 197 473)
(706 206)
(46 704 637)

2 993 861
1 581 000
1 286 724
189 000
545 612
462 531

4 253 974
37 249 277
6 332 160
14 082 455
2 521 892
2 244 840
17 524 992
42 053 428
16 728 107
7 891 022
2 137 262
815 162
(462 531)

724 978 037 49 126 848

2 521 892
7 891 022
2 137 262
(284 985)
12 265 191

(30 457)
571 575 540

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total
R
590 215 117

Deferred
revenue
R
(23 459 001)

Accrued
Total
revenue
R
R
571 605 997 42 068 121

Corporate
Services
R
-

CDC
R
571 605 997

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the government grants that have not been
recognized in revenue. There are no other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefitted.

*Negative values are due to the reversal of prior year accrued income

89 548 517

(30 630)

Grand Challenges Canada

Accrued interest/other income

815 162

Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation

-

16 728 107

The Global Fund

Gilead Sciences, Inc.

40 101 864

The ELMA Foundation
-

17 524 992

Road Accident Fund

The University of Cape Town (UCT)

2 244 840

Massachusetts General Hospital

-

1 578 049

Health Information Systems Program (HISP)

Dept. of Health

6 332 160

-

Development Bank of SA (DBSA)

European & Developing Countries Clinical
Trials Partnership Association (EDCTP)

4 253 974

-

Centre for Disease Control (CDC)

HSS
R

Grant income for the year ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

3. GRANT INCOME

4. (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE INTEREST
2020
R

2019
R

4 798 791
17 741
4 781 050

12 999 990
933 373
12 066 617

34 881 602

10 893 063

2 974 910

796 280

392 196 414

301 650 524

57 216 725
10 098 483
47 118 242

29 391 835
7 627 022
21 764 813

7 301 710
401 045 307

7 246 886
211 578 712

5 730 121

6 968 968

5 730 121

6 968 968

(Deficit)/Surplus before interest is stated after taking the following into account:
Income
Income – Donations
Miscellaneous income
Miscellaneous income consists of ad hoc sundry income
e.g. funds received from Health & Welfare SETA for training initiatives,
as well as commissions from service providers
Expenses:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (refer note 7)
Consultants legal support and license fees
External consultants
Operating lease rentals
Land and buildings
Other

Key Management Personnel:
Remuneration: Key Management Personnel
Remuneration: Other Staff

5. INTEREST RECEIVED
Total interest received

6. TAXATION
No provision for taxation has been made as the Trust is approved as a public benefit organisation in
terms of Section 30 and is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(cN) of the South
African Income Tax Act.
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Motor
vehicles
R

Computer
equipment
R

Furniture
and fittings
R

Total
R

2020
Opening net carrying amount
Additions/improvements
Disposals
Depreciation

27 875 869
143 995 725
(1 200 545)
(32 086 741)

11 173 244
1 317 074
(3 215 569)
(2 315 048)

821 455
999 740
(479 813)

39 870 568
146 312 539
(4 416 114)
(34 881 602)

Closing net carrying amount

138 584 308

6 959 701

1 341 382

146 885 391

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

187 770 717
(49 186 409)

17 875 363
(10 915 662)

5 793 497
(4 452 115)

211 439 577
(64 554 186)

Closing net carrying amount

138 584 308

6 959 701

1 341 382

146 885 391

Opening net carrying amount
Additions/improvements
Disposals
Depreciation

17 368 743
20 064 110
(1 305 933)
(8 251 051)

5 827 144
7 434 594
(57 036)
(2 031 458)

1 389 072
42 937
(610 554)

24 584 959
27 541 641
(1 362 969)
(10 893 063)

Closing net carrying amount

27 875 869

11 173 244

821 455

39 870 568

44 987 423
(17 111 554)

23 252 351
(12 079 107)

4 793 760
(3 972 305)

73 033 534
(33 162 966)

27 875 869

11 173 244

821 455

39 870 568

2019

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing net carrying amount

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2020
R
Other receivables
Receiver of Revenue - Value Added Tax
Deposits
Prepaid expense

2019
R

3 853 369
14 862 783
1 044 675
6 285 063

800 000
19 264 872
482 055
4 781 287

26 045 890

25 328 214

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximate their carrying values.
There are no amounts that are impaired. No significant doubt exists with regard
to recoverability of trade and other receivables.
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2020
R
Current accounts
Call accounts
Cash on hand

2019
R

28 474 116
129 144 106
58 991

34 208 656
104 633 017
32 491

157 677 213

138 874 164

Cash and cash equivalents as stated above related to the various departments as
follows:
HSR
HSS
CDC
Corporate Services

40 501 294
14 570 592
1 187 103
101 418 224

27 544 587
10 207 224
3 589 331
97 533 022

157 677 213

138 874 164

The cash and cash equivalents listed above are unencumbered and earmarked for project specific
expenditure. The above figures include an amount of R42 037 355 (2019:R38 965 076) in a designated
account described as the HST Reserve Fund which is a discretionary fund and not project specific.

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2019
R
Trade payables
Accruals
Operating lease liability

2018
R

18 304 090
24 896 071
86 719

63 438 578
7 701 719
189 918

43 286 880

71 330 215

The fair value of trade and other payables approximate their carrying values.

11. PROVISIONS
Sundry provisions

73 HEALTH SYSTEMS TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

302 255

10 256 244

302 255

10 256 244

12. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
2020
R

2019
R

The future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than 1 year
Between 2 and 5 years

5 953 726
10 254 114

2 056 168
1 474 895

16 207 840

3 531 063

Operating lease commitments include the lease of office space from which the entity operates. Leases range in
duration from one year to five years and are subject to annual escalation clauses of up to 10% per annum.
Sub-letting is generally not permitted without express permission from the lessor.

13. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SECURITIES
The Trust has issued guarantees held by Nedbank of R1 796 770 (2019: R1 296 770).
The trust has pledged R5 222,348 as security with Nedbank.
Securities held as at 30 June 2020
Cession & Pledge of credit balances – R3 000 000 (First National Bank)

14. GOING CONCERN AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 30th January 2020, the World Health Organisation announced COVID-19 as a Public Health Emergency of
International Concern. On 5th March 2020, the first positive COVID-19 case was announced in South Africa. On
11th March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 as a pandemic. On 15th March 2020,
South Africa declared a national state of disaster. On 27th March 2020, South Africa commenced a 21-day hard
lock-down period that was subsequently extended by a further two weeks. Subsequent to this, it was announced
that from 1st May 2020 the hard lock-down provisions were being eased as South Africa moved from Alert Level
5 into Alert Level 4 and on 1 June 2020, the country eased into alert level 3. From 18 August 2020,the national
restrictions were eased to Level 2 and the restrictions were further eased to level 1 from 21 September 2020
onwards.
During the lock-down operations were conducted remotely and funding continued from donors. Up until the
date of the approval of the annual financial statements, the trust had not suffered any material loss in revenue and
profit as a result of the pandemic. The COVID-19 outbreak did not cause any disruptions to business operations.
Management has a history of successful operations and access to readily available financial resources. Based on
the receipt of written confirmations for continued support by funders, a consequential assessment of cash flows
was conducted. This assessment established that, available cash flow resources were adequately aligned to budgets
for the next twelve months and in light of the review and current financial position, are satisfied that the trust has
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence beyond the pandemic.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of
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assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of
activities of the Trust.
No material uncertainties have come to the attention of management that would cast significant doubt on the
Trust’s ability to continue operating as a going concern in the foreseeable period.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT - AGGREGATE
2020
R
Grant income
Other grant income
Other income
Corporate Services - inter departmental charge
Project and administration expenses
Assets < R7 000
Auditors fees
Bank charges
Central administration
Communications, branding, & marketing
Computer software & support
Consultants, legal support and licence fee
Depreciation
External consultants
Gain on foreign exchange
Gifts, donations and enterprise development
Insurance
Meetings/workshops
Office costs
Operating lease rentals – land & buildings
Operating lease rentals – other
Printing and stationery
Project expenses
Recruitment
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries
Staff development
Subscriptions
Telephones
Travel and accommodation
Training
(Deficit)/Surplus before tax and interest
Interest received
Net surplus after tax
Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Accumulated surplus at the end of the year

2019
R

1 059 962 364
1 048 660 475
4 798 791
6 503 098

754 120 063
727 400 249
5 324 300
7 675 689
13 719 825

(1 063 569 563)
1 050 485
498 291
6 503 098
248 894
22 769 062
2 974 910
34 881 602
392 196 414
(118 432)
369 326
3 727 559
222 983
863 119
10 098 483
47 118 242
9 777 566
63 805 655
328 259
8 478 939
401 045 307
145 007
102 461
10 663 264
35 805 283
10 013 786

(729 844 325)
6 963
458 196
109 814
13 719 825
155 345
33 598 101
1 499 522
10 893 063
301 650 524
(395 247)
436 066
707 955
2 754 807
409 683
7 627 022
21 764 813
4 345 931
57 177 462
411 264
3 280 546
218 825 598
208 234
89 514
3 015 370
30 480 567
16 613 387

(3 607 199)
5 730 121

24 275 738
6 968 968

2 122 922
124 908 699
127 031 621

31 244 706
93 663 993
124 908 699

This statement does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT – HEALTH SYSTEMS RESEARCH (HSR)
2020
R
HSR
Grant income
Other income
Project expenses
Bank charges
Corporate services – inter departmental charge
Computer software and support
Depreciation
External consultants
Gain on Foreign Exchange
Meetings and workshop
Office costs
Printing and stationery
Project expenses
Salaries
Telephone
Travel and accommodation
Surplus before interest and tax
Interest received
Surplus after tax
Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Transfer to Reserve Fund
Accumulated surplus at the end of the year

2019
R

40 853 848
40 841 784
12 064

43 232 302
37 733 908
5 498 394

(39 556 312)
2 463
5 060 481
28 583
189 007
3 848 551
(118 432)
143 195
235 706
657 871
5 144 918
23 120 524
100 526
1 142 919

(37 853 311)
2 625
4 589 715
7 600
104 171
1 797 899
(395 247)
127 358
30 907
631 084
6 702 861
22 358 431
75 993
1 819 914

1 297 536
628 748

5 378 991
1 654 364

1 926 284
11 238 229
(438 414)
12 726 099

7 033 355
4 713 629
(508 755)
11 238 229

This statement does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT – CDC
2020
R

2019
R

965 678 960
963 037 535
2 641 425

590 215 117
590 215 117
-

(970 380 196)
395 296
8 869 042
22 416 399
37 773 433
113 927 202
(887 228)
8 824 246
1 341 171
8 891 596
42 855 877
7 561 512
273 284
625 870 398
145 007
10 293 979
70 095 363
11 733 619

(593 376 092)
27 855
5 539 222
33 234 518
8 586 222
268 302 744
(1 908 727)
6 628 439
784 912
3 114 665
29 325 805
3 227 535
334 035
166 825 719
41 578
2 651 066
50 306 081
16 354 423

Deficit before interest and tax

(4 701 236)

(3 160 975)

Deficit after tax
Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Accumulated surplus at the end of the year

(4 701 236)
7 901 034
3 199 798

(3 160 975)
11 062 009
7 901 034

CDC
Grant income
Other income
Project expenses
Bank charges
Corporate services – inter departmental charge
Computer software and support
Depreciation
External consultants and sub-recipients
Profit on disposal of asset
Operating lease rentals – buildings
Operating lease rentals – other
Printing and stationery
Project expenses
Repairs & maintenance
Recruitment
Salaries
Staff development
Telephones
Travel and accommodation
Training and workshops

This statement does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT – HEALTH SYSTEMS STRENGTHENING (HSS)
2020
R

2019
R

29 542 711
29 521 618
21 093

87 890 836
87 890 836
-

(29 732 903)
86 078
250 525
2 954 163
(3 525)
79 789
121 652
75 113
1 126 071
18 387 318
231 687
263 393
6 160 639

(84 207 236)
2 623 723
19 317
243 946
31 549 881
2 627 448
55 947
20 752
7 020 806
54 154
24 664 229
166 657
167 309
1 840 997
13 152 070

(Deficit)/Surplus before interest and tax
Interest received

(190 192)
336 719

3 683 600
1 138 055

Surplus after tax
Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Transfer to Reserve Fund
Accumulated surplus at the end of the year

146 527
8 778 607
8 925 134

4 821 655
5 048 908
(1 091 956)
8 778 607

HSS
Grant income
Other income
Project expenses
Corporate services – inter departmental charge
Computer software and support
Depreciation
External consultants
(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets
Meetings/workshops
Office costs
Printing and stationery
Project expenses
Recruitment
Salaries
Staff development
Telephones
Training
Travel and accommodation

This statement does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT – CORPORATE SERVICES
2020
R
CORPORATE SERVICES
Grant income
Other income
Corporate services - inter departmental charge
Administration expenses
Assets < R7 000
Auditor’s fees
Bank charges
Computer software and support
Communications, brand & marketing
Consultants, legal support and licence fee
Depreciation and amortisation
Gifts, donations and enterprise development
Insurance
Profit on disposal of assets
Office costs
Operating lease rentals - land and buildings
Operating lease rentals – other
Printing and stationery
Project expenses
Recruitment
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries
Subscriptions
Telephones
Training
Travel and accommodation
(Deficit)/Surplus before interest and tax
Interest received
Surplus after tax
Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Transfer to Reserve Fund
Accumulated surplus at the end of the year

2019
R

73 039 363
15 259 538
51 276 727
6 503 098

69 367 974
11 756 757
43 891 392
13 719 825

(73 052 670)
645 115
100 532
238 002
248 894
301 883
1 048 033
369 326
333 111
(1 293 394)
505 760
1 274 237
45 777 070
152 986
13 725 209
54 975
917 427
7 270 740
102 461
37 072
723 090
520 141

(50 993 852)
6 963
458 196
79 335
336 666
155 345
1 499 522
1 958 724
436 066
707 955
1 305 933
322 830
998 583
20 979 901
579 430
14 127 990
23 075
53 011
4 977 219
89 514
121 000
609 853
1 166 741

(13 307)
4 764 654

18 374 122
4 176 549

4 751 347
58 025 753
(2 633 865)
60 143 235

22 550 671
36 901 734
(1 426 652)
58 025 753

This statement does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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FUNDERS AND PARTNERS
U.S Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
KwaZulu-Natal Treasury
The ELMA Philanthropies
National Department of Health South Africa
WHO Alliance for Health Policy and Systems Research
Mpumalanga Department of Health
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health
Road Accident Fund
Grand Challenges Canada
UNICEF
Heart and Stroke foundation
ViiV Healthcare UK Ltd
London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (through a grant from the
International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie))

PARTNERS AND GRANT COLLABORATORS
ASG

Health Information Systems Programme (HISP)

University of Cape Town Centre for Infectious
Disease Epidemiology and Research (CIDER)

The AIDS Foundation of South Africa

University of Cape Town

Accenture

University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN)
UKZN Centre for Rural Health
Aurum Institute
Eastern Cape Department of Health
Free State Department of Health
Gauteng Department of Health
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Health
Limpopo Department of Health
Mpumalanga Department of Health
Northern Cape Department of Health
North West Department of Health
Western Cape Department of Health
The National Health Research Committee
National Health Laboratory Services (NHLS)
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81 HEALTH SYSTEMS TRUST ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

TB/HIV Care
Nelson Mandela Children’s Fund
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